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WE INVEST IN PEOPLE AND THEN IN THE TECHNOLOGY TO UNLEASH THEIR POTENTIAL
SGS IS THE WORLD’S LEADING VERIFICATION, TESTING AND CERTIFICATION COMPANY
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The SGS Group is the clear global leader and innovator in verification,

testing and certification services. Founded in 1878, SGS is recognised

as the global benchmark for the highest standards of expertise, 

quality and integrity.

With 32 000 employees, SGS operates a network of almost 840 offices and sub-

sidiaries and over 320 laboratories around the world. The SGS Group is a

leading force in verification and monitoring services for international trade in agriculture, minerals, petroleum and con-

sumer products, together with certification and other services to governments and international institutions. SGS also

offers strategic services to the industrial, environment, non-destructive testing, project resourcing, logistics and hygiene

sectors. As a professional, independent and reliable partner, SGS is committed to the delivery of enhanced value for

shareholders, clients, employees and the public at large. Integrity, transparency and ethical behaviour are the core values

of the SGS Group.

GROUP PROFILE





CHF (THOUSANDS) 2001 2000 CHANGE

REVENUES 2 331 993 2 368 862 -1.6%

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE EXCEPTIONALS (EBIT) 137 112 153 560 -10.7%

EXCEPTIONALS (177 515) 15 259

OPERATING PROFIT (40 403) 168 819

OPERATING MARGIN -1.7% 7.1%

NET PROFIT/(LOSS) (75 163) 128 714

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 981 656 1 099 312 -10.7%

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 30 625 30 532 0.3%
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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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1 For the purpose of calculating return on equity, equity is defined as average 

shareholders’ equity during the period.

2 As proposed by the Board of Directors.

3 Basis: dividend rights (registered share = 1 right; bearer share = 5 rights).

4 For the purpose of calculating earnings per share information, the average number 

of shares outstanding for the period is used. Prior year figures have been restated.

5 Before exceptionals.
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Strategically, three specific issues have been addressed during

this year. First, through changes in our management structure

at the top, the product orientation of our organisation has

been strengthened, a pre-condition for improving productiv-

ity and innovation. Secondly, being aware that organic growth

is not enough, business opportunities and acquisition targets

have been identified for aggressive growth in 2002. We have

now quite a few projects in the pipeline. Our goal is to achieve

critical mass in most sectors and areas. Finally, we have begun

to reposition Global Trade Solutions (GTS) in order to dimin-

ish our earlier dependence from the Pre-Shipment Inspection

business (PSI), which has been declining rapidly for a number

of reasons, and in order to orient it more towards new prod-

ucts and services less exposed to credit risks. Furthermore,

and most importantly we have revised the treatment of out-

standing receivables on terminated GTS contracts, thus sig-

nificantly increasing transparency. This change of accounting

policy, taken in response to the new accounting rule IAS 39 in

force since January 1st, 2001, required an exceptional non-

cash charge of CHF 177 million. With the adoption of this con-

servative measure, we have established a clear baseline from

which we measure future operational improvements.

Operationally, our performance has improved in the majority

of our businesses. Strong revenue growth in non-GTS busi-

nesses offset the revenue decline in GTS. The shift from total

dependency on our operating profit from GTS, a legacy we

inherited from the previous administrations, to the other core

businesses of SGS, made again good progress. These busi-

nesses represented this year 88 per cent of revenues and con-

tributed 84 per cent to operating profit, thus making our

results more stable and predictable. Due to the exceptional

non-cash charge of CHF 177 million, a net loss of CHF 75

million was incurred; without this change in accounting policy,

we would have been able to show a net profit of CHF 102

million, slightly above the range of CHF 80–100 million, which

was our estimate at the time we published our figures for the

third quarter results of 2001.

Financially, our Group is as robust as ever. For the first time in

the past four years, our Free Cash Flow is positive. Our

balance sheet is solid, with a net debt of zero and substantial

liquidity for future acquisitions. This strong financial position

and the favourable outlook for our Group have motivated our

Board to propose to the AGM an increase of last year’s divi-

dend of CHF 5.80 per share to CHF 6.00.

In spite of these positive developments in 2001, the Group

failed again to reach the operational objectives set in late 1998

regarding revenue growth of 10 per cent p.a. and an EBIT

margin of 10 per cent. The global economic slowdown has

contributed to this, but it was evident that still unsatisfactory

productivity in certain areas and a lack of acquisitions were

responsible as well. Recognising this failure, and convinced

that the set goals are achievable, the Board came to the con-

clusion that a more dynamic leadership was required at the

helm of the company. This change took place on February 1st,

2002. The Board would like to express its appreciation to the

former CEO, Mr. Antony M. Czura, a leader who gave the

Group almost 20 years of his professional career and who suc-

ceeded together with his team in rescuing the company from

the severe earnings and liquidity crisis of 1998. 

Ladies and gentlemen, dear shareholders,

Although difficult and tainted by the first worldwide recession since the

early 90’s, the year 2001 was in many aspects positive regarding the 

development of our Group. Progress has been made towards the goals

which Board and Management have set, some of them as early as 1998.

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN



The Board of Directors is proud of these achievements,

which serve the interest of all shareholders and put our

Company in the vanguard of Corporate Governance in

Switzerland.

In our last year’s message to the shareholders, we pointed

out that much has still to be done and that the turnaround is

not yet perfect. We want to repeat this judgment: The rapidly

changing world requires permanent adaptation to new 

circumstances which will again and again impact strategy,

vision and organisation in search of excellence. However, we

feel confident that in the four-year term of this Board of Direc-

tors with all its ups and downs a solid basis for success has

been built.

Finally, Chairman and Board would like to thank our Man-

agement and all our people throughout the world for their

achievements. Their motivation, dedication, competence and

hard work guarantee the future of SGS. A special word of

thanks goes to Dr. Ian Sword, Senior Executive Vice President,

who retired on February 28th, 2002. During his 13 years of

service he contributed enormously to the Group.
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At the same time, the Board welcomes the new Chief Exec-

utive, Mr. Sergio Marchionne, who has a proven track record

as a successful industrial leader and stands for competence

and healthy dynamism.

Over the last four years, progress in Corporate Governance

has radically changed the face of our Company. Controlled

by a voting pool which relegated all other shareholders,

owning the majority of the share capital to a negligible

second place, SGS represented in 1998 all the features of a

closed family business. At that time, Corporate Governance

barely existed. Today, SGS is a public company, which com-

plies with all requirements laid down in the recently pub-

lished Swiss Code of Best Practice and the rules imposed by

SWX Swiss Exchange for quoted companies. Milestones in

Corporate Governance of SGS:

• Transparency

Full and timely disclosure of all relevant facts and developments,

including remuneration of Board and Management.

• Opting-out

This formula was abolished in the AGM 2000, reintroducing the

requirement of a take-over offer by any shareholder exceeding a

participation level of 33.3 per cent.

• Shareholder rights

In the AGM 2001, the unitary registered share was approved (one

share – one vote), a longstanding wish of the market.

• Checks and balances

The new Board in October 1998 introduced dual leadership

(Chairman and Chief Executive positions separated).

• Structuring of the tasks of the Board of Directors

Creation of an Audit Committee and a Remuneration and Nomi-

nation Committee with independent Board members, increasing

control and oversight.

• Ethics in business

Creation of a Code of Ethics and an Ethics Committee, driving

and overseeing ethical behaviour throughout the SGS Group.

MAX D. AMSTUTZ

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
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Asia Pacific 

FROM 1 APRIL 2002
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LETTER FROM THE MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

2001 is the first year in which the outcome of this realign-

ment is clearly visible and establishes a baseline against

which further progress will be measured.

Excluding the impact of the accounting change, earnings

for the Group came in at CHF 102 million, with the short-

fall against 2000 being wholly attributable to the shrinkage

in GTS revenues and profitability. Encouragingly, the

Group delivered a significant increase in cash generation,

up some 77 per cent on the prior year, strengthening SGS’

cash resources to some half a billion Swiss francs. The

Group is thus profitable and financially strong.

SGS is in the enviable position of being the recognised

world leader in verification, testing and certification serv-

ices. It has nonetheless under-performed against its peers,

notwithstanding the gradual improvement in operating

performance over the last few years.

The main challenge I accepted as the newly appointed

Chief Executive is to ultimately position the Group to lead

the industry, and to do so quickly. We are now beginning

to close the gap with our competitors. The next phase of

development for SGS will require it to embrace a per-

formance ethic which thus far has not been the key ingre-

dient of its culture. This must change. 

Experience has taught me that to leverage this change one

must first redefine the meaning of leadership within the

organisation. From now on, SGS leaders will earn their

right to lead by performing, by delivering unparalleled

service to our customers and thus setting the standard of

performance for the industry, financially and operationally.

Flat, unequivocal organisational structures and encour-

agement to act decisively and swiftly will provide our tal-

ented performers the space they need to deliver.

This culture change is absolutely necessary if we want to

seize opportunities for growth, which remain large. We were

able to grow in 2001 even in the absence of buoyant market

conditions, as demand for quality, safety and associated

services continues to expand. Our global presence, product

innovation and market leadership in developing markets

such as Greater China and Eastern Europe, will provide the

platform on which organic growth will be delivered.

Towards the end of 2001 we purchased Scientific Services

Limited, an Australian Stock Exchange listed company,

which provides testing and analytical services to the global

minerals and petroleum industries. This is a further demon-

stration of our commitment to growth. Targeted acquisitions

which strengthen our core businesses will continue to be a

major focus of activity.

The new SGS requires a renewal of its corporate identity. The

logo associated with the SGS brand, which has been at the

heart of the company’s development and market success

over the last 125 years, has been modernised. In so doing,

we believe we have kept the positive, enduring values of the

old: high standards of expertise, integrity and globality. But

we have added a new sense of dynamism and passion, to

convey the message that the company is changing, not mar-

ginally, but structurally in order to embrace a new, unwa-

vering commitment to performance.

On behalf of our 32 000 people worldwide, I would like to

thank our customers for their support and loyalty, and

our shareholders for their continuing belief in the value

of our activities.

The realignment process which was started in SGS in 1998 has now come to a successful end, with two

of its main objectives clearly in hand. Global Trade Solutions (GTS) has been refocused and streamlined,

with a new product offering designed to minimise risk and augment the integrity of our customer relation-

ships. The Group’s strategic business sectors have been identified for this first phase and their performance

is being tracked against a group wide set of targets. 

SERGIO MARCHIONNE

MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE





13

BOARD OF DIRECTORS*

CHAIRMAN

Max D. Amstutz (1929) 

– Begnins – 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 

of Finter Bank, Zurich 

Member of the Board of Directors 

of Precious Woods Ltd., Zurich

Member of the Board of Directors 

of RPM Inc., Cleveland, USA 

VICE CHAIRMAN

Thierry Lalive d’Epinay (1944) 

– Freienbach – 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 

of Swiss Federal Railways

Partner, HPO Management Consultants

MANAGING DIRECTOR

AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Sergio Marchionne (1952) 
(since 1 February 2002)

-Cham-
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 

of Lonza Group

Member of the Board of Directors 

of Serono SA

DIRECTORS

Dominique Auburtin (1951)

– Paris –
Executive Chairman of the 

Board of Directors of Worms & Cie

August von Finck (1930) 

– Munich – 

Ferruccio Luppi (1950) 

– Paris – 
Member of the Board of Directors 

and Managing Director of Worms & Cie

Dominique P. Morax (1948)

– Zurich – 
Chief Financial Officer and Member 

of the Corporate Executive Board 

of Swiss Life/Rentenanstalt

Ricardo H. Siepmann (1956)

– Ovendorf – 

SECRETARY

Olivier Merkt 

Acting Legal and Compliance Officer

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche SA, Geneva

ETHICS COMMITTEE

Max D. Amstutz

Chairman of the Board of Directors

and Chairman of the Committee

Antony M. Czura 
(until 31 January 2002)

President of the Group Executive

Board and Chief Executive Officer 

Ewald Van der Helm 

Senior Vice President

Prof. Dr. Franz A. Blankart

Former State Secretary of the Swiss

Government (external member)

NOMINATION 

AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Thierry Lalive d’Epinay 

Chairman of the Committee

Max D. Amstutz 

Dominique Auburtin

August von Finck

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dominique P. Morax

Chairman of the Committee

Max D. Amstutz

Thierry Lalive d’Epinay

Ferruccio Luppi

Sergio Marchionne 

(until 1 February 2002)

*term expiration May 2002

BOARD OF DIRECTORS & EXTERNAL AUDITORS
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CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS 

CORPORATE MARKETING AND BRANDING

Jean-Luc de Buman, Senior Vice President

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT 

Wolf Waschkuhn, Vice President

CORPORATE FINANCE

Paul A. Lilley, Senior Executive Vice President 

and Chief Financial Officer 

CORPORATE HUMAN RESOURCES

Claude Battentier, Senior Executive Vice President

INFORMATION SYSTEMS AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS

Carol Wilson, Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer

INTERNAL AUDIT

Ewald Van der Helm, Senior Vice President

LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE

Oliver Merkt, Acting Legal and Compliance Officer

CORPORATE FUNCTIONS





Board Meetings

During 2001, the Board of Directors met officially seven times for full board meet-

ings. In addition the Chairman and the Vice Chairman supported the Group Exec-

utive Board through regular contact.

Internal Audit – Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Group consists of at least three members of the Board

of Directors. The Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Internal

Audit and a representative of the external auditors also attend the meetings. It

assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in reviewing financial

reporting processes, the compliance with pertinent laws and regulations. It also

reviews the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s internal control system.

The Head of Internal Audit reports directly to the Chairman of the Board to guar-

antee full independence. Internal Audit with its risk assurance and internal control

assessment missions, assists the Board and Group management to provide a 

reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of the corporate objectives. 

All key observations are communicated to the management responsible, to the

Chief Executive and to the Chairman via formal audit reports. The Audit Commit-

tee is regularly informed of summary results and important findings.

In 2001, Internal Audit together with business management developed and 

implemented the SGS Global Business Risk Assessment programme. Under this

programme a risk value is assigned to each unit in the SGS Group on the basis of

a broad range of SGS specific business risk questions, which also includes health,

safety and environmental aspects. The results of this programme have been

shared with Group management and form the basis for the audit activities.

Board of Directors and Auditors

The Board of Directors defines the company’s strategic direction and is ultimately responsible for the management of SGS

and for the supervision of the persons entrusted with company management, especially with regard to compliance with the

law, the Articles of Association, regulations and directives. The members of the Board are elected at the Annual General 

Meeting by the Shareholders for a term of maximum four years. Re-election is possible. The Board of Directors constitutes

itself and elects from amongst its members a Chairman and a Vice Chairman. The Board of Directors has, in compliance with

the Swiss law and the Group’s Articles of Association, delegated the management of the Company to the Chief Executive

and the Group Executive Board with the exception of specifically defined significant matters.
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of three members of the Board of Directors. The Chief Executive 

and the Head of Human Resources attend the meetings. It approves the management development policy and evaluates

candidates to senior management. It approves the compensation package of the

members of the Group Executive Board and of certain key employees and makes

recommendations to the Board for the compensation of the Directors.

The Group Executive Board

At the executive level, the Chief Executive is assisted by a

Group Executive Board consisting of Senior Executive Vice

Presidents. The Company Secretary serves as Secretary to

the Group Executive Board. The Heads of Corporate Com-

munications and Investor Relations and of Information

Systems and Telecommunications also attend meetings.

The Group Executive Board’s responsibilities include the 

development of the Group’s strategy for approval by the

Board of Directors; monitoring the implementation of strat-

egy and organising the Group for optimal performance.

Also to ensure that appropriate management skills, systems

and processes are in place and to consider corporate

matters, and to communicate and implement decisions.

Ethics Committee

The Ethics Committee consists of four members, the Chair-

man of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive, the Chief

Compliance Officer and an individual external to the Group

appointed by the Board. It insures implementation of the

Code of Ethics within the Group and in case of violation,

takes appropriate corrective and disciplinary measures. It

also approves agreements for the procurement on develop-

ment of business opportunities with intermediaries.

Compensation

The Group operates an employee share purchase plan and

a share option plan for eligible members of senior man-

agement. Some of the share options and grants were

issued in the bearer shares of SGS Société Générale de

Surveillance Holding SA. Following the introduction of the

unitary registered share on 10 May 2001, these benefits

will now be provided as registered shares. The number of

shares and share prices in this note are therefore reflected

as registered shares in SGS Société Générale de Surveil-

lance Holding SA and have been converted at the rate of

one bearer share equals five registered shares. The market

value of the shares is determined as the average price 

of the shares in the 20 days following the announcement

of the annual results. The beneficiaries are required to pur-

chase the shares at the time they exercise their right, but

the shares remain blocked by the plan during the vesting

period. Should a beneficiary leave the Group prior to 

the end of the vesting period, they will receive a portion of

any associated capital gain. During the vesting period, the

beneficiaries are entitled to the voting rights and dividends

attached to these shares. Full legal title to the shares is trans-

ferred to the beneficiaries after vesting period has expired.

Significant subsidiaries 

and affiliates, 31 December 2001

(Please refer to the financial book)





ACHIEVEMENTS

“It’s an old cliché that a company’s most important asset 
is its people, but it’s a cliché that is undeniably true.”
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Ethics

Integrity and transparency are the core values of the SGS

Group. These values are the foundations upon which SGS

has built its worldwide reputation as a trustworthy partner

for over a 100 years.

These values have been set out in the SGS Code of Ethics. 

A global ethics training programme was launched to promote

an ethical workplace environment and to ensure that the code

became an integral part of SGS culture. A top-down training

approach started with senior and middle management, with

training workshops run throughout the year. These were

evaluated in terms of employees having both understood

and positively embraced the principles of the code.

A business ethics programme was also created and tai-

lored to the needs of employee groups including inspec-

tors, laboratory technicians and office staff. All 32 000

employees are expected to complete this training pro-

gramme by the end of 2002.

During 2001 SGS maintained its partnership programme

with the International Development Law Institute (IDLI) in

Rome. The Chief Compliance Officer was invited to rep-

resent SGS by taking part in several events: a course on

legal prevention and control corruption that was held in

Vilnius, Lithuania and attended by officers from the

Lithuanian Special Investigation Service; a workshop on

business principles for countering bribery at the 10th

International Anti-Corruption Conference in Prague which

SGS also sponsored; and the working group formed by

Transparency International and Social Accountability to

develop an Integrity Standard. This initiative is scheduled

to be field tested by a major Asian group during 2002.

The National Chief Executive of SGS Nigeria also repre-

sented SGS at a business ethics conference in New York

held by the Ethically Effective Organisation and dis-

cussed how to navigate ethical challenges in emerging

countries.

Human Resources

The effective management and utilisation of human

resources lies at the heart of the SGS business strategy,

founded on the belief that skillful and motivated people

produce great business results.

ACHIEVEMENTS



Since the start of restructuring in 1999, the HR function has

been implementing change projects and operational ini-

tiatives to develop and support our personnel and to

create a climate and capability which will deliver effective

change in the Group.

SGS is proud of its people and believes in their ability to

contribute, based on their deep knowledge of industry and

their passion for the company. When filling senior posi-

tions in the Group we appoint internally where possible,

demonstrating our trust in our talent base.

In 2001, the senior development programme “Leading

Change at SGS”, delivered in collaboration with the IMD

business school in Lausanne, concluded its planned series.

It equipped our top 200 managers to lead cultural, org-

anisational and commercial change in their part of the 

business.

A new workshop with IMD was launched, aimed at poten-

tial successors to the top 200. Called “Leading for Perfor-

mance and Growth”, selection of delegates is through

succession management and other tools. Focus is on

developing leadership and business skills, and creates a

personal development plan to implement back in the work-

place. This initiative will ensure that the depth of manage-

ment talent in SGS is leveraged and will secure the

essential supply line of leaders for the medium term.

During the year 120 managers attended the workshop.

Client Satisfaction

SGS offers comprehensive solutions for the verification

and monitoring of global trade transactions. Each solution

is developed and applied with the highest level of expert-

ise, quality and integrity. The SGS Group provides state-of-

the-art capabilities across a global network.

Commercial expertise, delivered within a highly motivated

framework of total commitment, focuses on client needs,

problem solving and satisfaction. SGS capabilities include

innovative eCommerce services, which support each

client’s strategies to penetrate the global B2B market.

During the year focus continued to be on the transformation

of SGS into a market and client driven sales organisation. 
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A major tool to accomplish this is SPRING, a global pro-

gramme designed to implement best practice in the areas

of marketing and sales. SPRING provides sophisticated

learning in key areas such as market segmentation, client

focus, pricing and value selling, sales activity planning,

sales organisation and incentives.

Progress measurement included a global client satisfaction

survey carried out in 30 major countries. In total 2 200 SGS

clients were interviewed about their satisfaction, percep-

tion and commitment towards SGS and the results were

communicated throughout SGS with corrective action

plans where appropriate. This tracking will allow SGS to

achieve and increase customer satisfaction leadership over

competition, to ensure consistency of its services and will

allow SGS to focus on key processes that will add value to

customers.

During 2002 focus will continue to be on creating added

value and contribution to the enhancement of each client’s

reputation for quality. To provide prompt, cost-efficient 

solutions to complex trade related requirements and to 

develop ever closer relationships with clients, by responding

to and anticipating rapidly changing needs. Emphasis will

be maintained on a long-term view of client relationships

and active portfolio management.

Information Systems and Telecommunications

SGS continues to recognise the role which information

technology plays in enabling Group strategies and initia-

tives. In solid recognition that information is a precious

capital asset, SGS continues to invest in the restructuring 

of the Information Systems & Telecommunications (IST)

service offering and organisation.

The IST Transformation Strategy was continued during

2001, with solid project governance and an organised

approach taken towards leveraging technology in support

of future initiatives. The year also saw the movement

toward the “e-Enablement” of SGS business processes

over the Internet. The capabilities of SGSonSITE were

expanded to provide an easy and reliable method for

clients to enter and track orders via the Internet. The deliv-

ery of GTSNet in support of import and export inspection

analysis and tracking helped to secure business for Global

Trade Solutions. SGS also moved boldly into the mobile

22
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computing space with important projects utilising hand-

held inspection devices.

The coming year will move SGS a significant step closer

towards global information management. Key investments

will be made in the delivery of global financial and order

processing capabilities, in partnership with a global soft-

ware supplier.

Working in partnership with Cap Gemini Ernst & Young,

SGS implemented a global project management office,

responsible for the oversight of all major project activity

within SGS. The programme was designed to ensure a

higher return on IST investments worldwide. Over 100 pro-

fessionals received training in Horizon, the SGS designed

project management methodology.

Environment

SGS activities are bound by ethical principles which seek

to promote activities that increase wealth without com-

promising the opportunities of future generations.

Accordingly, SGS values economically sound, environ-

mentally sensible and socially responsible strategies. This

perspective governs SGS’ own activities, management

policies and employee behaviour. Equally, SGS assists

clients who seek to apply the principles of sustainable

development.

During the year, SGS’ emergency response scheme con-

tinued to minimise potential environmental and safety

impacts following accidents involving dangerous goods.

The network currently covers over 40 countries in Europe

and Asia Pacific and in 2002, an intelligent emergency

telephone number will interlink 16 SGS emergency centres

throughout Europe.

International Certification Services in Spain was accredited

to audit environmental management systems. SGS Tecnos

was chosen to perform environmental surveillance on the

European plants of Alcoa and in Madrid major projects

included managing the security and safety in the works of

the Barajas Airport extension and the Warner thematic

park. They were also chosen to control the quality of the

internal environment in such high profile buildings as the

offices of the Central Bank of Spain and the BBV Bank.
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SGS Multilab, the specialised environmental laboratories of

the SGS Group in France, processed 100 000 environmental

samples during 2001 including residual and drinking water,

air, soils, mud, sediments and wastes. Laboratoires Wolff

Environnement continued to monitor the quality of rain

water on behalf of several French governmental agencies,

searching for acid rain on a total of 40 sites. SGS Qualitest

Industrie France checked 150 railway transport convoys of

nuclear fuels for contamination before departure from 15

power stations in France, Germany and Switzerland and after

discharge at The Hague’s nuclear waste treatment unit.

In February 2001, SGS Environment and CSMA Consul-

tants, part of the Wardell Armstrong Group, worked

together to provide technical and environmental services

in the international mining industry. Clients now have

access to a diverse range of technical and environmental

specialists. Projects undertaken include ISO 14000 Audit of

Freeport in Indonesia and due diligence audits for Baia

Mare tailings retreatment in Romania and Satellite Gold-

fields Limited in Ghana.
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Corporate Development

The entire spectrum of Corporate Development activity is

linked to a fundamental mission: to create and extract

value for SGS shareholders. The pursuit of this mission is

pervasive in the way corporate strategy is driven forward

in the strategies of each sector and their acquisitions.

Activities need to leverage the strategic assets of the

Group and draw upon management expertise and experi-

ence, whether these are in existing areas of activity or in

new business opportunities. Where new strategic capabil-

ities are acquired, it is imperative that these capabilities be

disseminated in the relevant parts of the SGS network in

order to grow them beyond their original value.

Activities during the year were largely twofold: firstly in

identifying business opportunities and acquisition targets

based on well defined corporate and sector strategies and

driving forward their implementation. Secondly, honing

the internal processes and Corporate Development infra-

structure for aggressive growth in 2002.

Entry was gained into Bluetooth™, the short range, wireless

radio communication protocol, and is expected to become

a major growth area for SGS product and service certifi-

cation activities. The acquisition of Scientific Services Ltd,

the leading force in mine site analytical services in the non-

ferrous metals market, marked the first strategic step to

seek leadership in this particular segment. Had it not been

for adverse market conditions, 2001 would have seen

further strategic moves in sectors.

During 2002 an even more rigorous focus will be on

opportunities inside the sectors and resources will be con-

centrated on fewer activities to achieve critical mass and

economies of scale. The size of acquisitions will be

increased to add further critical mass and momentum.

Where appropriate, activities will be disposed of and

assets shifted to higher yielding employment. Several

opportunities of both an organic and acquisitive nature are

expected to materialise in 2002. A key activity accompa-

nying growth by acquisitions will be the strengthening of

SGS’ post acquisition integration capability.
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2001 ACTIVITIES BY BUSINESS SECTOR
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REVENUES CHF MILLION %

AGRICULTURAL SERVICES 217.2 9.3

MINERALS SERVICES 206.1 8.8

REDWOOD SERVICES 414.8 17.8

CONSUMER PRODUCTS SERVICES 282.8 12.1

INDUSTRIAL SERVICES 402.7 17.3

INTERNATIONAL CERTIFICATION SERVICES 198.3 8.5

GLOBAL TRADE SOLUTIONS 270.6 11.6

OTHERS 339.5 14.6

REVENUES 2 332.0 100.0

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE EXCEPTIONALS CHF MILLION %

AGRICULTURAL SERVICES 17.9 8.5

MINERALS SERVICES 19.4 9.3

REDWOOD SERVICES 42.7 20.3

CONSUMER PRODUCTS SERVICES 21.4 10.2

INDUSTRIAL SERVICES 24.2 11.5

INTERNATIONAL CERTIFICATION SERVICES 25.3 12.0

GLOBAL TRADE SOLUTIONS 34.5 16.4

OTHERS 24.9 11.8

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE
GROUP CORPORATE COSTS
AND EXCEPTIONALS 210.3 100.0

LESS GROUP CORPORATE COSTS (73.2)

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE
EXCEPTIONALS 137.1

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 2001 %

AGRICULTURAL SERVICES 4 642 15.2

MINERALS SERVICES 4 327 14.1

REDWOOD SERVICES 4 654 15.2

CONSUMER PRODUCTS SERVICES 3 736 12.2

INDUSTRIAL SERVICES 5 004 16.3

INTERNATIONAL CERTIFICATION SERVICES 1 543 5.0

GLOBAL TRADE SOLUTIONS 2 868 9.4

OTHERS 3 851 12.6

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 30 625 100.0





“You can’t be a farmer and not be a businessman these days. 
Just as in nature, balance is everything.”

AGRICULTURAL SERVICES



CHF MILLION 2001 2000

REVENUES 217.2 217.4

COMPARABLE GROWTH 4.8% -1.2%

EBIT 17.9 20.4

EBIT MARGIN 8.2% 9.4%

Market conditions remained constant with low commodity prices, although in

some regions there were bright spots. Agricultural Services remained well posi-

tioned to take quick advantage of the opportunities that did present themselves.

A power shift was seen in global trade business and while some large traders

withdrew from certain markets, some private or state-owned buyers increased

their influence. At the same time some medium sized trading entities emerged.

Alongside these developments, Agricultural Services developed a set of serv-

ices tailored to protect clients against risks such as quality and quantity of the

goods at loading and discharge, and insect re-infestation. Services were

expanded to include risk management and guarantee services to complement

the traditional inspection business.

Concerns over Genetically Modified Organisms (GMO’s) provided opportuni-

ties for SGS to demonstrate its expertise in tracing the origins of soya and

maize and in testing goods at each critical point, from analysing seeds for purity

before they are sown, through to storage, transport and shipment. Non-GMO

certificates show evidence that every step has been taken for delivering

genuine and unadulterated goods. Both open and informal relationships were

also continued with environmental pressure groups concerned with the origin

of food products.

Agricultural Services inspects millions of tonnes of commodities shipped worldwide each year. SGS agri-

cultural inspectors are engaged in increasingly diverse tasks, including: weighing, sampling, analysis,

loading and discharge supervision, tally, fumigation and guarantees of weight and quality. Over 100 

specialised laboratories are located in the key agricultural economies worldwide.
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AGRICULTURAL SERVICES 
MARKET EVOLUTION

• Market recovery in Eastern 
Europe – good crop, partial
re-opening of Danube

• Successful strategy in
N. America generates strong 
revenue growth

• Economic problems in L. America/
Asia reduced profitability 
of operations



Grains Vegetable oils

& liquids

Foods

(sugar, coffee, 

cocoa, fruits)

Cotton/Fibers

FOG

Full out-turn

guarantee

FOQ - QRP

Quality

guarantee

CC

Comprehensive

cover

Fumigation

Collateral

management

Humanitarian &

food aid

In the year 2001, there was increased activity in this do-

main. Several services aimed at protecting pledges were

developed with banks.

This programme was developed in response to clients’ 

demand for information regarding the nature 

and origin of food products.

IPP 
(Identity preservation programme)

GMP 
(Good manufacturing process)

& Traceability

Product 

Coverage

Services

New 

Services

Trade 

Finance 

Support

Humanitarian and food aid

Agricultural Services has long been involved in the United Nations Food Aid Programme. As part of this programme, SGS

responded to a request to send food to the people of Afghanistan. This activity involved the dispatch of around 10 000 tonnes of

beans, wheat, flour, lentils and vegetable oil. Food was loaded at Port of Lake Charles located between New Orleans and Houston.

Thanks to SGS’ presence in these ports the operation went smoothly and was much appreciated by US Aid officials.
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On the eCommerce front, Agricultural Services strengthened its capabilities,

particularly in building an eDocument to issue quality certificates and to speed

communication. With this document, SGS guarantees the authenticity, quick

processing and completion of the customer’s transactions.



“There’s so much more to mining than just getting 
rock out of the ground.”

MINERALS SERVICES





The coal market saw a number of changes during the

year. Of notable interest in the first six months was the

near tripling of domestic steam coal prices in the USA,

which in turn strengthened seaborne prices worldwide.

In response Chinese and Russian exporters entered the

market, nearly doubling exports and leading to overpro-

duction and softening prices in the second half of the

year. Despite this, most domestic steam markets still

have strong long term outlooks.

Non-ferrous metal prices continued to slide for most of the

period, generating a massive wave of industry consolidation.

The medium term outlook is positive as capacity is being

reduced to draw down London Metal Exchange stocks.

The global steel industry has seen demand shrink rapidly as

recession bites in various parts of the world. The tariffs

imposed by the USA on imports exacerbated the over capac-

ity situation. Consolidation by bankruptcy was the market

reaction in the USA, whereas the European producers

merged. In contrast to these market forces, coal and coke

prices have remained firm due to the early tightness in the

steam market.

The precious metals industry saw gold remain relatively

flat and platinum group metals strong. Sustained low gold

prices drove a continued wave of consolidation amongst

producers looking to acquire resources with the lowest

production cost. Central Bank selling did not help the price

situation even taking into account the productive supply

balance shortfall.

Minerals Services enhanced its market leadership in a

number of products and geographic areas. The Russian

affiliate successfully moved up the value chain in the coal

sector, offering sampling and weighing services at coal

mines in the Kusbass area of Siberia. A highlight was the

signing, by SGS Vostok, of a steel monitoring contract with

Severstal, the biggest steel producing mill in Russia. This

contract, for the monitoring of steel from production

Minerals Services is the market leader, delivering a broad spectrum of services to clients concerned with

value chains associated with coal and coke, fertilisers, non-ferrous and precious metals and steelmaking

raw materials. Its expertise, extensive laboratory network and comprehensive sampling procedures meet

the globalised service requirements of clients engaged in exploration, mineral and coal processing, power

generation, risk management and seaborne trade in bulk commodities. Minerals Services develops strate-

gic partnerships with clients in order to enhance performance.
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CHF MILLION 2001 2000

REVENUES 206.1 212.4

COMPARABLE GROWTH 2.2% 0.3%

EBIT 19.4 24.2

EBIT MARGIN 9.4% 11.4%

• Depressed steel markets impacted
performance

• Good revenue growth in coal/coke
but profitability of this segment 
lower than average

• SSL acquisition will boost sector
revenue and profitability

MINERALS SERVICES 
STABILITY IN A DIFFICULT MARKET



through to final delivery at various Russian ports, strongly

positions SGS in the steel industry within the CIS. This was

closely followed by the successful deployment of the new

MetalTrak tally and inspection methodology, and associated

data management application at major offices within the

Ukraine. This new methodology promises to elevate tally and

inspection services to new levels of productivity and cost

reduction within the Group, while at the same time signifi-

cantly improving the value of SGS service offerings to partic-

ipants involved in the steel supply chain.

SGS Australia improved its market share for coal export

services by several percentage points and continued to

roll-out the new Occupational Health and Safety services

around the country. A global roll-out has been underway

since late 2001.

The International Business Center in Geneva grew, largely

by improving market share in inspection services of non-

ferrous concentrates on a global basis. A major contract

was also awarded to this center for worldwide fertilizer

inspections for a major trading company.

Revenue growth was recorded in Brazil with their ever

increasing service portfolio. The steel industry market share

improvements during the year 2000 were maintained and a

major contract awarded for geochemical analysis helped

push market share.

Market conditions globally had both positive and negative

effects on the business for the period. While coal price

increases were positive for the industry as a whole, the

short-term business mix for SGS USA changed even more

dramatically. High margin penalty and premium analyses

were suspended in lieu of receiving any form of delivery

to ensure supply and therefore power supplies were not

disrupted. Long-term contract deliveries were disrupted as

suppliers traded into the lucrative spot market. Cost struc-

tures were adjusted accordingly, but the lag hurt margins

in the first half of the year.

The steel downturn forced the market dominant Chinese

suppliers of metallurgical coke to hold off deliveries to the

ports. While market share was maintained, revenue was

affected. This was offset by improvements in market share

for fertilizers and iron ore imports to the southern Chinese

ports.

Ratios indicated that Minerals Services performed up to

expectations and were mildly expansionist. Focus during

2002 will continue to be on organic growth opportunities

in the coal sector for laboratory and mechanical sampler

outsourcing arrangements in order to allow our clients to

use their capital, both human and financial, for productive

purposes. In those domestic markets where value chain

migration is possible, sales efforts will be focused on

market expansion. Acquisitions are being targeted in core

commodity groups and the first success was in December

with the acquisition in Australia of Scientific Services Ltd

(SSL), an AUD 80 million turnover company engaged in

testing and analytical services to the global minerals and

petroleum industries.

35





“We may live in a digital age where technology is the future, 
but the fuel that drives the world economy is still oil.”

REDWOOD SERVICES



Redwood Services is the leading global provider of trade inspection and testing services, quality assurance,

risk management and technical support services to the petroleum and chemical industries. Areas of expertise

include: quantity and quality control during custody transfer; laboratory testing; automatic sampling; static

and dynamic calibration; gas technical services for the conditioning and purging of gas carriers; lubricant 

predictive maintenance testing; packing and forwarding of samples (SGS Destpack); tank and container 

inspection services; offshore support services and logistics; together with contract laboratory and terminal

manning and management. 

Low inventories and favourable oil product demand helped

create fair market conditions for Redwood Services for the

majority of the year, despite a very weak chemical sector

where bulk chemical prices were at their lowest for many

years. Only after the third quarter did an unseasonal weak-

ness in the oil markets develop. Faltering demand and

global economic uncertainty dampened revenue growth.

The industry saw further consolidation with both oil and

chemical majors merging. Though this had the negative

impact of a reducing customer base, it also presented the

opportunity for global contracting and building volumes of

business.

Redwood Services was very successful in securing major

contracts during 2001 and won several single supplier con-

tracts. These were evident in Eastern Europe where partic-

ularly strong inroads in Russia and the Caspian produced

excellent profitable growth.

From a regional perspective, Asia was disappointing with

the weakness of major economies in that region impacting

on trade and refining. Singapore was badly affected with

its refineries running at half capacity for most of the year,

although in the new market of China, Redwood Services

made strong and profitable progress. In the Americas,

Canada continued its progress in establishing itself as a

leading provider to the offshore oil and gas industry. In the

United States significant new market share made for

buoyant growth assisted by good market conditions for

Redwood Services. The relatively low stock position and

heating oil demand in the early part of the year stimulated

product movements. Western Europe proved resilient to its

well-developed markets and strong competition.

The globalisation of SGS Destpack achieved substantial

revenue growth. A second state-of-the-art sample facility

was opened in Bridgeport, USA early in the year and

several prestigious contracts were secured.
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CHF MILLION 2001 2000

REVENUES 414.8 397.5

COMPARABLE GROWTH 8.4% 8.5%

EBIT 42.7 40.0

EBIT MARGIN 10.3% 10.1%

• Continued strong performance –
but market conditions weakening
at end of 2001

• Product innovations 
gaining momentum 
(Destpack/Fuel Marking)

• Strong development 
in E. Europe – Russia and Caspian 
(+20% revenue growth)

REDWOOD SERVICES 
FAVOURABLE MARKETS 
AND A STRONG PERFORMANCE



Emergency response services continued to grow with the

addition of an extensive Asian network to the existing

Europe Africa Middle East network. Customers included

major chemical manufacturers and distributors who com-

mitted themselves to a responsible care protocol relating to

the protection of health, safety and the environment. With its

partner Alert Disaster Control, Redwood Services provided

several levels of technical intervention in the event of a

transportation incident or emergency.

Fuel Integrity Program using patented Oronite D-Tect® tech-

nology, a service Redwood Services provides in partnership

with Chevron Oronite and Biocode, became a major success.

In addition to the pioneering programmes for the authorities

in Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda which were renewed for

further terms, contracts in South Africa and Zambia were

secured during the year. It is expected that further govern-

ments and oil distributors in Africa, Asia and Latin America

will develop similar programmes in 2002.

As part of the e-Enabling strategy, Redwood Services was a

key participant along with major oil and chemical industry

customers in developing industry standards for integrated

messaging and electronic document exchange schemes, in

both oil and chemicals. During the year, Redwood Services

further developed electronic warehousing of inspection and

analytical reporting on its proprietary RedWeb repository

with several thousand individual client users. RedWeb,

developed entirely by Redwood Services, enables its cus-

tomers to archive, search, retrieve and graph or trend key

technical or commercial data in real time, live on the Inter-

net. Redwood Services will also be the first in the oil and

chemical industry to introduce e-Certification to enable cus-

tomers or third parties to electronically validate any

Redwood Services inspection or testing report presented to

them in support of a commercial transaction.

Redwood Services also continued to develop its compre-

hensive technical governance programme to ensure contin-

uous service improvement. Cross border audits cover 25

individual elements of service from customer interface to

validation of reports and certificates, and include equipment

calibration, laboratory practices and standards, house

keeping, training, ethics and professional conduct. Compli-

menting this, the international laboratory correlation pro-

gramme operated by the Institute for Interlaboratory Studies

in Dordrecht, Holland, ensured that laboratories continued to

meet rigorous standards of technical due diligence.
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Safe disposal of dangerous chemicals

An SGS customer was faced with several containers in three locations, packed with drums of a toxic and corrosive chemical which

due to a manufacturing fault at his supplier, had started to decompose and liberate gas. Pressure was building in the sealed steel

drums and without urgent and expert attention would explode. One call to our emergency number in Singapore mobilised the

Redwood Services / Alert Emergency Response Team in three countries, Singapore, India and Korea and with their expert knowledge

of this chemical and its handling requirements, were able to bring the decomposition under control and facilitate safe disposal of the

chemical. This prevented a major environmental hazard and the risk to the well-being of the public. In addition, our client had access

to global expertise to quickly and expertly rectify the problem, fulfilling his responsibilities as a concerned corporate citizen.

Legitimate fuel business thrives

In an attempt to stop major excise losses due to the diversion of export fuel into the domestic market, the authorities in Kenya saw

the benefits of a Redwood Services / Oronite Fuel Integrity Programme and pioneered the first such programme in Africa. As a direct

result of the programme, the excise authorities are collecting significantly more revenue as legitimate volumes of fuels are displacing

the illegally diverted volumes in the market, benefiting both the people of Kenya and the legitimate fuel distributors.



“When it comes to food and nutrition, we all need to know what 
we are buying. After all we are what we eat.”

CONSUMER PRODUCTS SERVICES





Priority was given to driving sales in the Strategic Business Units, the keystones

of which were establishing dedicated sales teams, implementation of the key

account management strategy and setting up dedicated customer service teams.

These initiatives, combined with new business development, contributed to the

organic revenue growth achieved. This was despite the economic slowdown in

the United States and the events of September 11th which had a negative impact

on SGS’ activities in the tourism and hospitality industry.

Work started in building a standard and regulation network, giving support to

customers in interpreting and applying standards for their exports, for example

to help global retailers with private label and product specification assistance.

Food services continued to be rolled out with around 6 000 certificates issued

under newly developed programmes, for example the Organic Production

Standard, which focuses on sustainable production, crop rotation and rational

use of manure and vegetable waste. The Japanese Ministry of Agriculture,

Forestry and Fisheries approved SGS Japan as an official certification organi-

sation for organic foods which comply with the Japanese Agricultural Stan-

dards, allowing imports of goods in Japan under the SGS Organic certificate.

CHF MILLION 2001 2000

REVENUES 282.8 261.7

COMPARABLE GROWTH 11.2% 7.2%

EBIT 21.4 19.6

EBIT MARGIN 7.6% 7.5%

CONSUMER PRODUCTS SERVICES 
STRONG GROWTH

Consumer Products Services has particular expertise in laboratory testing, product consultancy, process

assessment and statistical product verification for manufacturers, importers, exporters and retailers of

consumer products. These services are available on a global basis for food consumer products and most

non-food goods, including textiles, toys, footwear, electric and electronic goods and mechanical equip-

ment. In food, Consumer Products Services cover the entire food production chain from primary produc-

tion through food processing, transportation and distribution networks to the final consumer. A full range

is also provided of quality solutions in the service sector including hotel and restaurants chains.
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• Investments start to generate
growth (electronics, food)

• Investment in electronics testing
facilities in Asia (Bluetooth™)

• Focus on profitability,
improvement continues
in microbiology – Europe/US



SGS entered the telecommunications and information tech-

nology business by concluding an agreement with the

CETECOM network, a leading provider of consulting, devel-

opment, testing and certification in this field to explore a long

term co-operation in the area of the emerging global stan-

dard for wireless data communication, Bluetooth™. The stan-

dard defines a uniform structure for a wide range of devices

which communicate with each other and is aimed to achieve

global acceptance so that any Bluetooth™device, anywhere

in the world, can connect to Bluetooth™devices regardless of

product brand. Bluetooth™is supported by over 1 300 manu-

facturers who have made this technology by far the fastest

growing industry standard. It is expected that the market will

grow from zero in 1999 to 700 million USD dollars in 2006.

Partnership with McDonald’s

SGS supports McDonald’s food safety and quality requirements in many countries. For example, SGS Taiwan started with hygiene

auditing and beverage testing services. Based on good performance, McDonald’s decided to increase the auditing and testing

frequency. At the same time, McDonald’s also transferred all its water quality testing to the SGS laboratory. SGS also started to

perform other work, such as shelf life testing of McDonald’s newly developed salad products, effective duration testing of running

water filters used in McDonald’s restaurants, water quality re-evaluation of several restaurants after typhoons and earthquakes

and GMO screening for all food. In addition, SGS is managing all customer complaint cases and is committed to provide emer-

gency on-site sampling and re-testing services as well as presenting the results to customers. McDonald’s is also planning for

SGS to handle all the quality control and quality auditing of its suppliers. Discussions are also in progress for factory on-site

auditing and raw material and semi-product testing.

Safe quality food in the Netherlands

The need to convince consumers, chain partners, shareholders, insurers and public institutions of optimum care and quality,

requires a uniform and integrated approach in a production chain. Safe Quality Food (SQF) combines the advantages of ISO 9000

and the HACCP methodology throughout the chain, signalling the end to fragmentation, high costs and double checks. Introduced

this year in the Netherlands, SQF is getting full attention after SGS issued the first SQF certificates for a poultry chain in the Dutch

market. The client has given wide publicity to its certification, showing the interest of SGS clients to support SQF certification in

the market. About 300 certifications are expected during 2002.
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“When you are dealing with virtually every country, 
time zone and industry, trust is our most valuable commodity.”

INDUSTRIAL SERVICES



Industrial Services covers all types of services related to quality in industry provided through the world-

wide SGS network. Clients rely on such applications as quality inspection, expediting, testing, project man-

agement, risk management, vendor pre-qualification surveys, design reviews, commissioning, statutory

certification, quality assurance services, consultancy, etc. These services are applied to engineering, pro-

curement and construction projects, related to new construction, upgrading and maintenance activities.

The SGS Group continued to provide a range of services

to the industrial sector, both on a local country basis and

in support of international projects using SGS’ extensive

network and representation. International work was con-

centrated in the oil, gas, chemical and power generating

industries. Major assignments included in Taiwan, the co-

ordination of project management for inspection and

supervision services, for the construction of coal fired elec-

tricity-generating stations and in Nigeria the safety and

integrity of major gas gathering and liquefied natural gas

processing streams.

The appointment of SGS as client representatives has

enabled the specialist skills available to the Group to be co-

ordinated for the different locations involved in major

international plant projects. France was active in vendor

surveillance activities for oil, chemical and utility projects

in the Maghrib and the Middle East.

Increased emphasis both in health and safety assessment

and in training provided additional activities, particularly

in Belgium and Nigeria. Specific accreditation for these

services was obtained in Singapore and Korea.

Investment in high speed rail services provided inspection

work in Spain, but with the completion of the French TGV

network, successful restructuring needed to take place to

promote other inspection planning and project manage-

ment activities in France. The introduction of building

inspection services in Spain also had a favourable impact

on business growth. Taiwan successfully developed tech-

niques for testing construction materials and this activity

is being expanded into China and India.

CHF MILLION 2001 2000

REVENUES 402.7 401.2

COMPARABLE GROWTH 2.6% 8.7%

EBIT 24.2 18.4

EBIT MARGIN 6.0% 4.6%

• Renewed focus has improved 
sector performance

• Margins held back by economic 
problems in Argentina

• Good performance of vehicle 
testing in Ireland

• Vehicle Inspection (ITS) 
in USA remains difficult

INDUSTRIAL SERVICES 
SUCCESSFUL DEVELOPMENT
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Changes in legislation concerning environmental health

and safety provided new opportunities. SGS UK Industrial

Services obtained accreditation for the new European

pressure equipment directive as a notified body, with both

training and details of these services actively promoted

within the Group.

Specialised local services were provided in many countries

based on the local statutory inspection requirements and

SGS Belgium was particularly successful in promoting

their services in this field. Other services were provided

locally and co-ordinated through the network. In particu-

lar, the management of maintenance supervision is per-

formed in France, Nigeria, Belgium and the Netherlands.

Inspection of pallets and other transport devices has been

successfully promoted by Germany and Italy in particular.

Project resourcing services to provide specialist personnel

for oil and gas projects and for telecommunications and

aeronautical systems continued to develop well. These

services help clients to retain flexibility in the fluctuating

industrial investment environment. Increased investment

provided good opportunities early in the year.

Vehicle Inspection Services were provided in Ivory Coast,

Ireland, Argentina, Spain and the USA in order to ensure

compliance to local vehicle safety standards. The range of

specialised inspection and testing services provided to the

nuclear industry was modified with the sale of Logitest in

France in the latter part of the year. This divestment was a

consequence of the changing service requirements within

the industry.
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SGS Saudi Arabia was responsible for the inspection of the cranes used in the construction of the Kingdom Towers in Riyadh.

These were the tallest cranes ever used in Saudi Arabia and the 15 inspections of each resulted in the SGS inspector having

climbed 9 525 metres, exceeding the height of Mount Everest!



“Today the quality of services is important to customers, 
suppliers and stakeholders. 
Showing a commitment to quality is the first vital step.”

INTERNATIONAL CERTIFICATION SERVICES





International Certification Services is the leading participant in the global quality management systems

certification market. Activity is spread over 70 countries and ISO 9000 accreditation is offered in nearly

30 countries. Services embrace a wide range of management systems, auditing competencies and related

training. They include ISO 14001 (environmental management), QS 9000/TS 16949 (automotive industry),

OHSAS 18000 (occupational health and safety), CE Marking, PM 9000 (public sector management), SA

8000 (social accountability), SQF 2000/HACCP (food safety), and sustainability evaluations.

International Certification Services continued to consolidate its strong market

position and outperformed the market. This status was also confirmed by the

current SGS Global Client Satisfaction Survey where over 70 per cent of clients

confirmed that they were either extremely satisfied or very satisfied with the

quality of services provided.

Strong growth has been built by focusing on long-term clients, many of which

date back to the inception of International Certification Service nearly ten years

ago. This focus has been reinforced with a significant increase in the number

of staff working directly with both existing and potential clients.

The year was characterised by fundamental changes in the market. ISO 9000

has been in existence since 1987 and in excess of 408 000 companies were cer-

tified to ISO 9000 at the beginning of the year. However the trend for new com-

panies to gain this certification is reducing and this was most apparent in

Europe and North America. Strong growth in this certification was still evident

in Asia, Eastern Europe and Latin America.

The new ISO 9000 revision was released in late 2000 with a three year dead-

line for clients to introduce compliant systems. This had the effect of delaying
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CHF MILLION 2001 2000

REVENUES 198.3 189.2

COMPARABLE GROWTH 10.1% 9.6%

EBIT 25.3 25.0

EBIT MARGIN 12.8% 13.2%

INTERNATIONAL CERTIFICATION SERVICES 
CONSOLIDATED MARKET POSITION

• Increased focus on sales 
and marketing continues growth 
momentum

• ISO 9000 series now mature, 
ISO 14000 series growth continues

• Margins under pressure 
as ISO market growth slows; 
increased competition in Asia



new certifications while companies introduced these compliant systems. However

a wave of registrations is expected in the second half of 2003 as applicants focus

on the improved elements in the standard dealing with customer satisfaction and

with greater freedom to organise their system along business lines.

In addition other products still grew strongly. There were more new ISO 14001

certificates issued than in previous years. In Italy the first accreditation for

OHSAS, the Occupational Health & Safety standard was achieved for the Group.

The strong focus on product development continued, with service certification

of significant interest to service providers. Business wins included the appoint-

ment of SGS as the recommended BMW auditing partner worldwide.

Development also began of a new offering to help clients go beyond ISO 9000

certification and to improve output. Built around the ISO 9004 document and

several national and regional quality awards, the new offering has been devel-

oped to enable clients to focus on a range of issues that demonstrate the excel-

lence of their business. After completion of a pilot programme, the offering will

be available to clients in the first half of 2002.
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ICS Spain had an interesting and varied year, with such diverse activities as awarding ARRIKIS with Spain’s first Internet Service Provider

Qualicert certification and certifying to ISO 9002 and 14001, the public transport enterprise Pais Vasco in Bilbao. ICS Spain also issued

their first OHSAS 18001 Health & Safety certificate to Unilever Spain and also were involved in the CARREFOUR Beef 

Traditional Quality certification.

ICS Japan has taken the market leader position for the new OHSAS 18001 standard. They have also diversified their activities to include

certifications in the forestry sector and in the area of social accountability.

ICS Mexico further developed the existing Hygiene Conscious Establishment Programme to include the requirements of ISO 9001:2000

and issued the first “HCE PLUS” certificate to Colegio Superior de Gastronomia. They also performed their first audit against the 

OHSAS 18001 standard as well as providing certification services to such notable organisations as Volkswagen (ISO 14001) and the Sec-

retariat of the President of Mexico (ISO 9001). 





“The globalisation of trade presents many challenges
but also many opportunities.”

GLOBAL TRADE SOLUTIONS



Responding proactively to a changing global business environment, Global Trade Solutions has developed com-

prehensive solutions and programmes to protect government revenues and facilitate trade. Services include

import verification, valuation support, origin validation, risk management, single-window pre-export verification

and certification, electronic trading community networks and export promotion. Global Trade Solutions is also

expanding independent monitoring services in areas such as foreign direct investment and natural resources.

Pre-shipment inspection (PSI) continued as the sector’s

primary source of revenue. In 2001, SGS was successful in

concluding new agreements with the Governments of

Moldova and Uzbekistan, as well as to extend or renew

contracts with the Democratic Republic of Congo, Ecuador,

Ethiopia, Guinea, Malawi, Mauritania, Nigeria and

Rwanda. The mandate was lost in Senegal, while the

limited programme in Argentina was phased out towards

the end of the year.

SGS remains the leading provider of pre-shipment inspection

programmes, but with a commitment to evolve this service

to address the specific needs of both existing and new clients.

Major developments in risk management techniques and

improved customs valuation tools enabled SGS to offer

client governments enhanced PSI programmes where

inspection and verification have been increasingly limited to

high risk transactions. A unique and proprietary risk man-

agement tool has been developed and is now being imple-

mented in several countries to evolve PSI.

Confronted with lower volumes and the need to improve

productivity and cost effectiveness of PSI programmes,

Global Trade Solutions implemented a new model for 

its service delivery aimed at improving efficiency and

speed of delivery, while giving priority to the added

value required by clients, through the allocation of

increased professional resources around the globe.

Efforts were also focused on converting Global Trade

Solutions IT systems to provide a single and efficient 

IT platform to respond to the requirements of both trade

and governments.

Locally driven business activities and the new services

developed over the last two years started to emerge as

engines of sector growth and adaptability to new

demand from government as well as from the trade.

Global Trade Solutions invested in the development of

new services aimed at protecting government revenues,

facilitating international trade, monitoring aid pro-

grammes and promoting sustainable development.
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CHF MILLION 2001 2000

REVENUES 270.6 353.4

COMPARABLE GROWTH -21.5% -12.2%

EBIT 34.5 59.0

EBIT MARGIN 12.7% 16.7%

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (177.5) 16.8

• PSI market continues to shrink

• Collection of outstanding debts 
(eg Philippines) remains a priority

• New services coming on stream

• At exit 2001, CHF 185 million pa of 
PSI revenues with acceptable 
profitability and collections profile

GLOBAL TRADE SOLUTIONS 
A CONFIRMED CAPABILITY 
TO INNOVATE AND PROVIDE NEW SERVICES
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This investment showed concrete results during the year

with a number of successes in the promotion of new serv-

ices. SGS initiated discussions in several countries where

PSI was not considered an appropriate tool for govern-

ment revenue protection or trade facilitation. As of the end

of the year, a number of mandates for new services were

in an advanced stage of negotiation.

In 2001 both trade facilitation and trade and security were

confirmed as being issues of particular importance to gov-

ernments and businesses. Global Trade Solutions services

that assist exporters to demonstrate their compliance with

import regulations, even before the goods have left the

supply or export country, have attracted a lot of attention

from governments and businesses. These services are seen

as practical and effective in speeding up the import process

by reducing the need to verify compliance upon arrival.

Similar programmes relating to national technical standards

or other import requirements are already operated by

Global Trade Solutions for Russia, Uzbekistan, Argentina,

Colombia, India, Brazil and soon for other countries. This has

allowed SGS to act as a single window provider to exporters

who need to confirm their compliance with the complex

import requirements of a large number of countries and

therefore facilitate legitimate transactions.

Very significant efforts were made in 2001 to recover

arrears with some notable successes in countries such as

Nigeria and Senegal. However, substantial payment

arrears from Angola, Argentina, the Ivory Coast, and the

Philippines remain. In December 2001, the Government of

the Philippines and SGS reached a partial agreement over

the outstanding receivables on the PSI contract which

expired in 2000.

Facilitation of direct investments in China

Equipment imported for use in foreign direct investment

projects in China must under law, undergo a special 

valuation at border clearance in addition to the normal

border clearance applicable to all imports. This procedure

often leads to delays, burdening the foreign investor with

unexpected additional costs. Chinese Government authori-

ties in November 2001 accredited GTS as their first over-

seas authorised agent to perform this valuation. Foreign

investors can now choose to either voluntarily use SGS’

FDI Valuation Service to demonstrate their compliance with

applicable Chinese laws before shipment, or to undergo

the procedure upon arrival in China as has been the case

until now. This has opened an alternative and voluntary

green channel for foreign investors who can elect to avoid

potential problems or delays at border clearance in China.

Climate change programme

The World Bank operates the Prototype Carbon Fund (PCF)

with contributions from governments and corporations.

PCF experience shows that the Clean Development 

Mechanism (CDM) and Joint Implementation established

under the Kyoto Protocol are viable mechanisms to combat

global climate change and that carbon finance can make

projects in energy, waste management and forestry more

attractive for domestic and international investors. The PCF

will be purchasing carbon dioxide emission reductions for

up to US $3.9 million over 15 to 20 years as a result of the

first CDM project negotiated with the Uganda West Nile

Electricity Project. This US $20 million project involves 

the construction of two small hydropower stations, efficient

diesel back-up facilities, and the rehabilitation of the 

mini-grid in the region.

The project has been independently validated as a 

CDM project by SGS. The PCF expects to obtain tradable

“Certified Emission Reductions” in the name of its 

shareholders as soon as the CDM is fully operational.



2001 ACTIVITIES BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA
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Europe

2001

Africa / Middle East

North America

Latin America

Asia Pacific

Revenues

Change2000CHF million

1.0%1 157.2

-5.4%132.0

-0.4%482.9

-3.6%184.7

-8.0%412.1

 1 168.7

 124.9

481.1

178.0

379.3

Europe

2001

Africa / Middle East

North America

Latin America

Asia Pacific

Operating Profit*

Change2000CHF million

5.4%108.7

3.6%13.8

-17.6%23.9

-55.4%22.2

-15.4%61.2

114.6

14.3

19.7

9.9

51.8

Europe

2001

Africa / Middle East

North America

Latin America

Asia Pacific

Average Employees

Change2000

0.5%11 152

0.8%4 643

-0.3%3 643

-1.2%3 457

0.7%7 637

11 208

 4 679

3 631

 3 414

7 693

* Operating profit is before corporate costs and exceptional charges.





Europe

The good rates of profit and growth in Italy and Spain

came mainly from Industrial Services, Redwood Services

and Environmental Services. Vehicle testing services in

Ireland reached a steady inspection volume with improv-

ing profitability and quality certification expanded in

Italy, Spain and Portugal.

In France, laboratory services were remodelled to

improve efficiency and customer service. Building insur-

ance and related statutory inspection continued its suc-

cessful development in Spain. Outsourced laboratory

management services were successfully introduced in

Italy. The continuing demand in the defence, utilities and

oil and gas industries improved the performance of the

project resourcing services unit in the UK. Development

continued in product and service certifications, particu-

larly in France, Italy, Spain and the UK. Structural

changes in the grain market adversely affected the per-

formance of Agricultural Services, particularly in France

and in the UK which was further exacerbated by the

restrictions following the outbreak of foot and mouth

disease.

SGS’ participation in Logitest in France was sold to co-

shareholders BNFL’s Westinghouse Nuclear Services unit.

Laboratory services in Belgium and Germany experi-

enced a high level of activity with increased volumes of

BSE testing. The Netherlands successfully integrated the

outsourced laboratory services for LBC Botlek and KEMA.

A new petroleum laboratory was opened in Gothenburg,

Sweden.

EUROPE, AFRICA, MIDDLE EAST

58



Restructuring measures were completed in Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands

and Scandinavia. Finland and the Baltic countries completed their turnaround and

delivered solid results. Russia and Ukraine gained new clients and businesses in

the petroleum and coal industries.

In Hungary, Bulgaria, Romania, Croatia and Slovenia good crops and the partial

reopening of the Danube leveraged SGS’ market leadership in agricultural prod-

ucts and generated excellent results. In September 2001, a new affiliate SGS

Beograd started operation to service clients in the Federal Republic of  Yugoslavia.

The Czech Republic and Slovenia performed well. The Turkish economy suffered

heavily from the financial crisis, nevertheless due to the reorganisation started at

the end of last year, the results of the SGS operation in Turkey were excellent.

Revenue growth and operating profit were also excellent in the region which

includes Azerbaijan, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan, Turkmenistan, Kyrgyzstan

and Tajikistan, due to new management launching aggressive sales efforts.

Africa – Middle East

Despite generally depressed agricultural

exports in Africa, revenues and profits

have shown a good growth spurred by a

turnaround in Central Africa, and suc-

cessful Fuel Integrity and Control Pro-

grammes throughout Eastern Africa.

These programmes were awarded the

prestigious Petroleum Industry of East

Africa (PIEA) Award for “Most outstand-

ing innovation.”

Services to oil and gas projects contin-

ued to contribute to growth. This was

particularly the case in Iran and Nigeria.

Geochemical laboratories maintained

their good performance in Tanzania and

Guinea.

To strengthen its presence in Algeria,

SGS created a majority joint venture with

its former agent active in the agricultural,

petroleum and gas sectors.
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AMERICAS
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North America

In USA, Redwood Services gained market share in crude

and refined products, particularly in the north east, though

the trend slackened towards the end of the year due to a

reduction in jet fuel related work and chemicals. The US

energy situation early in the year caused dramatic changes

in the supply and demand dynamics for coal. Minerals Ser-

vices adjusted their cost structures accordingly, but the lag

hurt margins in the first half of the year.

Growth in food and hygiene audit services for the hospi-

tality and retail sectors inevitably came to a halt after Sep-

tember 11th. However, additional sales investment

particularly in international work and a change of focus to

the upstream part of the supply chain in food has laid the

foundations for improved results in 2002. The economic sit-

uation and delayed spend on IT resulted in disappointing

results for the car inspection business. However, improve-

ments are expected as the volume of post-lease car inspec-

tions grows.

Promising results were also seen by the end of the year for

International Certification Services due to reorganisation

and investment in sales resources. Environmental Services

delivered a good performance, as did the teams responsi-

ble for data management of vehicle inspection, with the

promise of more mandates in the next two years.

Canada also experienced a challenging economic environ-

ment, which was further compounded by the events of

September 11th. Despite this, Agricultural Services grew

significantly following an aggressive drive offering inno-

vative solutions to the grain industry. Fumigation services

were also successfully launched across the country. In

Canada there was a small growth in inspection and testing

services and Consumer Products Services also grew with

an increase in retail store audits and other food laboratory

initiatives.

Latin America

Mexico particularly suffered from the downturn in the US,

its main trading partner and from lower oil prices.

Redwood Services and Minerals Services suffered loss of

business as a result. However, International Certification

Services maintained its leadership against strong compe-

tition. The creation of Agricultural Services in Panama was

well received, particularly by the banana sector. 

Guatemala further improved its profitability. In Argentina,

the restructuring process continued. Despite the economic

crisis new investments were made to enhance SGS’ pres-

ence. Restructuring led to positive results for Redwood

Services who strengthened their traditional activities and

developed new activities in the environmental sector.  Con-

sumer Products Services won a three year contract with
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Coca-Cola to manage their quality control laboratory and

there was increased activity in fruit auditing and certification.

A new agricultural laboratory was also built at the same

location as the country’s main grain and oil terminals.

In Uruguay, the economic crisis caused by the ban of meat

exports imposed by the European Union affected the

results of most commercial divisions. However SUCTA, the

SGS company in charge of the statutory technical inspec-

tion of heavy transport vehicles, was granted a renewed

ten year contract by the Government. In Paraguay, despite

the economic crisis which directly affected their exports,

SGS presented good operational results due to the com-

pletion of the restructuring process and through Interna-

tional Certification Services.

Brazil produced excellent results with a particularly strong

performance of Redwood Services and a very successful

turnaround of Agriculture Services. Minerals, Consumer

Products and International Certification Services all pro-

duced significant double-digit revenue growth. A major

restructuring programme was undertaken in Chile and new

strategies were established as well as favourable condi-

tions for future growth. Redwood Services consolidated its

market leadership with the implementation of an excel-

lently located laboratory and by winning an important

three year contract.

Ecuador and Bolivia obtained good results, maintaining

their business structures mainly on Global Trade Solutions,

PSI and Aforo contracts. The restructure of operations in

Colombia and Venezuela generated a second year of posi-

tive results. A new coke/coal laboratory was opened to

service a five year contract with an SGS worldwide client.

Minerals Services’ mining activities in Colombia were

adversely affected by the national security situation.

However, the company’s restructure was completed and

Agricultural Services started to contribute to growth.

The unstable political climate in Peru had an adverse effect

on the economy. A reduction in fishmeal production, as

well as in mining exploration also affected business, but

cost controls and the development of new services main-

tained profitability. The construction of a major pipeline in

Peru will start in mid 2002 and several sectors are actively

participating in tenders.



In contrast to the global economic situation, China’s

economy maintained its growth momentum. SGS’ opera-

tion continued to grow, particularly in Western China.

Redwood Services won a number of contracts for sub-

stantial projects and Minerals Services and Agricultural

Services expanded their local market share. With China’s

entry into WTO these natural resources divisions are very

well positioned to benefit from market growth and liberal-

isation of trade. Consumer Products Services continued to

excel and investment was made in new laboratories. Inter-

national Certification Services continued to be the market

leader among the international certification bodies. Reor-

ganisation has led to increased capacity to manage growth

in Western China and in business related to the Beijing

2008 Olympics. Global Trade Solutions performed well,

especially in the non-PSI business.

The economic recession affected business in Hong Kong,

nevertheless Consumer Products laboratory testing, espe-

cially in textiles showed a very strong performance. Inter-

national Certification Services recorded strong growth in

this mature market and new investment in food, drug and

environment testing progressed well.

SGS Taiwan continued to grow in all areas. Laboratory

testing expanded rapidly in the food and hygiene, envi-

ronmental, material and engineering areas. Reorganisation

and a strong new business drive led to good levels of

growth for Consumer Products Services. In Cambodia,

Japan, Philippines, Korea and Vietnam, all SGS companies

have successfully been certified to ISO 9000 series, ensur-

ing high levels of customer service. In Cambodia, SGS

maintained its market lead through the existing PSI con-

tract.

SGS Japan was accredited for the JAS Organic Mark for

food by the Ministry of Agriculture, Forest and Fisheries.

Commercial sectors enjoyed good revenue growth led by

International Certification Services, Redwood Services and

Industrial Services. As a result of deregulation initiatives

by the Japanese authorities, SGS is poised for profitable

growth.

In Korea, the acquisition in December 2001 of KES, the

leading independent electrical testing laboratory, will

further boost the strong growth experienced in Consumer

Products Services and the excellent performance of CTR

Far East which specialises in certification services for

exports to Russia. Due to changing market conditions, the

fumigation activities were sold to its management.

SGS Philippines consolidated its position; the Bureau of

Food & Drugs Administration extended laboratory accred-

itation to numerous new tests for the food and pharma-

ceutical industries. Redwood Services in the Philippines

expanded its activities to the country’s first offshore field. 

ASIA PACIFIC
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In Vietnam, Agricultural Services remained the largest core

sector, with growth in soft commodities lessening tradi-

tional dependence on rice exports. Significant improve-

ments were achieved for Minerals Services and Consumer

Products Services. Current investments in Redwood Ser-

vices and Industrial Services will benefit from increased

developments in Vietnam. In Thailand, restructuring

showed in improved results, particularly for Agricultural

Services where food services expanded and comple-

mented the growth in Consumer Products Services. Inter-

national Certification Services continued to grow, with the

addition of new certifications and services.

Redwood Services in Singapore was affected by price fluc-

tuations in energy products, though this was partially

offset by the introduction of new services on both emer-

gency response and technical and safety audits. Interna-

tional Certification Services continued its strong growth

and new services boosted profitability. The new food

department expanded and became a major supplier of

hygiene services to leading hotels.

SGS Malaysia showed strong profitability with growth

from Agricultural Services as well as the recently devel-

oped forestry sector, to provide certification for timber

products. Forestry also provided certification of Sustain-

able Forest Management systems. Pink Healthcare was

divested during the year.

Strong profitability continued in Indonesia, despite politi-

cal uncertainties within the country. Myanmar produced

good results especially for Agricultural Services with

renewed exports of rice.

SGS India achieved positive revenue growth in all

sectors. Customer service initiatives were introduced in

Minerals, Agricultural, Consumer Products, Industrial

and Redwood Services. Consumer Products Services, the

main business in Bangladesh had another successful

year and the textile-testing laboratory was expanded to

meet increased demand.

SGS Sri Lanka maintained its leadership position, contin-

uing expansion of laboratory testing activities particularly

in the food and environment areas, and to promote and

expand quality certification and training activities. SGS

Pakistan increased market share in both agricultural prod-

ucts and textile inspection.

The Australian economy showed strong growth through-

out the year. Growth in core sectors such as Minerals

Services and Redwood Services was partly due to

increase in client exports due to the competitiveness of

the Australian dollar. Growth businesses included OH&S

Training and Food Safety. In New Zealand, quality certi-

fication, minerals and wool testing services performed

well during the year.
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2 SGS GROUP

C O N S O L I D ATED BALANCE SHEETS AT 31 DECEMBER

(BEFORE APPROPRIATION OF AVAILABLE RETAINED EARNINGS)

Assets CHF (thousands) Notes 2001 2000

Non-current assets

Land and buildings 4 189 795 175 825

Equipment 4 207 865 210 660

Investments in associated and other companies 5 2 560 6 439

Long-term loans and other assets 6 37 759 36 900

Deferred tax assets 24 47 562 48 941

Goodwill and other intangible assets 7 59 904 33 180

Total non-current assets 545 445 511 945

Current assets

Work-in-progress and inventories 8 111 905 113 977

Trade accounts and notes receivable 9 513 285 641 526

Other receivables and prepayments 10 170 819 212 546

Marketable securities 11 159 047 199 251

Cash and cash equivalents 490 171 442 326

Total current assets 1 445 227 1 609 626

Total 1 990 672 2 121 571

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 14 156 443 156 443

Reserves 825 213 942 869

Total shareholders’ equity 981 656 1 099 312

Minority interests 25 835 20 469

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities:

Long-term loans 15 42 210 43 831

Deferred and other tax liabilities 24 41 958 48 958

Provisions 16 228 219 264 952

312 387 357 741

Current liabilities:

Loans 18 161 412 109 540

Trade and other payables 272 207 283 305

Current tax liabilities 27 985 19 472

Other creditors and accruals 19 209 190 231 732

670 794 644 049

Total liabilities 983 181 1 001 790

Total 1 990 672 2 121 571



SGS GROUP 3

C O N S O L I D ATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

CHF (thousands) Notes 2001 2000

Revenues 20 2 331 993 2 368 862

Salaries and wages (1 254 641) (1 245 828)

Subcontractors’ expenses (133 111) (146 676)

Depreciation (101 305) (103 502)

Goodwill amortisation (8 464) (4 314)

Other operating expenses 21 (697 360) (714 982)

Operating profit before exceptional operating (expense)/income 20 137 112 153 560

Exceptional operating (expense)/income

Effect of accounting policy change 2 & 22 (177 515) –

Other 22 – 15 259

Operating (loss)/profit (40 403) 168 819

Financial income/(expense), net 23 17 129 18 002

(Loss)/profit before taxes and minority interests (23 274) 186 821

Taxes 24 (43 548) (51 358)

(Loss)/profit after taxes (66 822) 135 463

Minority interests (8 341) (6 749)

Net (loss)/profit (75 163) 128 714

(Loss)/earnings per share (in CHF) 25 (9.61) 16.46

Dividends per share (in CHF) 6.001 5.80

1 As proposed by the Board of Directors.



4 SGS GROUP

C O N S O L I D ATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Share capital General legal Cumulative Retained Total equity
reserve exchange earnings and

CHF (thousands) adjustment Group reserve

Balance at 1 January 2000 156 443 33 498 (20 905) 828 361 997 397

Effect of adopting IAS 374 – – – 15 754 15 754

Dividend paid – – – (37 549) (37 549)

Net profit for the year – – – 128 714 128 714

Exchange differences3 – – (5 004) – (5 004)

Balance at 31 December 2000 156 443 33 498 (25 909) 935 280 1 099 312

Effect of adopting IAS 391 – – – 3 256 3 256
Fair value adjustments for 
marketable securities2 – – – (594) (594)

Dividend paid – – – (45 371) (45 371)

Net (loss) for the year – – – (75 163) (75 163)

Exchange differences3 – – 216 – 216

Balance at 31 December 2001 156 443 33 498 (25 693) 817 408 981 656

1 On 1 January 2001, the Group adopted IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement". The cumulative net effect of this change in

accounting policy as at 1 January 2001 amounting to a CHF 3.3 million increase in net assets has been reported as an adjustment to the opening

balance of retained earnings in accordance with the benchmark treatment of IAS 8. The portion of the adjustment for marketable securities

designated as "held for trading" is CHF 0.6 million and for "available for sale" is CHF 2.7 million.

2 In accordance with IAS 39, the movements in the fair value of investments designated as "available for sale" are recognised in retained earnings.

On disposal, the cumulative gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account. CHF 2.1 million of unrecognised gains remain in

retained earnings as at 31 December 2001.

3 In 2001, exchange differences include net exchange losses of CHF 12.0 million on long-term loans of an investment nature (2000: losses of CHF

8.7 million).

4 On 1 January 20 00, the Group adopted IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” . The cumulative net effect of this

change in accounting policy as at 1 January 2000 amounting to CHF 15.8 million increase in net assets has been reported as an adjustment to the

opening balance of retained earnings.



C O N S O L I D ATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

SGS GROUP 5

CHF (thousands) Notes 2001 2000

Net (loss)/profit (75 163) 128 714

Adjustments for:

Goodwill amortisation 8 464 4 314

Depreciation 101 305 103 502

Financial income, net (19 754) (24 566)

Changes in provisions (33,752) (77 869)

Effect of change in accounting policy 177 515 –

Taxes 43 548 51 358

Minority interests 8 341 6 749

Profit on sale of fixed assets/investments (1 919) (4 647)

208 585 187 555

Working capital movements on:

Decrease /(Increase) in work-in-progress and inventories 2 427 (486)

(Increase) in trade accounts and notes receivable (62 206) (52 358)

Decrease in other receivables and prepayments 44 024 27 885

(Decrease) in trade and other payables (2 453) (73 988)

(Decrease) in other creditors and accruals (24 965) (67 787)

Taxes paid (32 854) (39 009)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 132 558 (18 188)

Purchase of fixed assets (116 721) (121 892)

Cash paid for acquisitions less cash acquired 12 (35 284) (9 330)

Cash received on disposals less cash sold 15 028 64

Decrease in investments in associated and other companies 3 444 571

Decrease/(Increase) in marketable securities 45 624 (33 566)

Decrease in long-term loans and other assets 267 1 059

Interest and dividends received 28 799 36 788

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 10 892 28 375

Net cash (used in) investing activities (47 951) (97 931)

Payment of dividend (45 371) (37 549)

Interest paid (10 043) (12 811)

Increase/(Decrease) of minority interests in net assets 1 651 (6 575)

(Decrease) in long-term loans (2 332) (1 964)

Increase in short-term loans 24 925 22 733

Net cash (used in) financing activities (31 170) (36 166)

Net Increase/(Decrease) of cash and cash equivalents 53 437 (152 285)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (5 594) (3 317)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Januar y 442 326 597 928

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 490 169 442 326



6 SGS GROUP

1 Activities of the Group

SGS Société Générale de Sur veillance Holding SA and its

subsidiaries (the “Group”) is the world’s leading verification,

testing and certification organisation. SGS Société Générale

de Surveillance Holding SA has its registered office in

Geneva and services to clients are rendered by its

subsidiaries located throughout the world.

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are

prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting

requirements of the International Accounting Standards (IAS)

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board

(IASB) and with the Standing Interpretations issued by the

Standing Interpretation Committee of the IASB.

The accounts have been prepared under the historical 

cost convention as modified for the revaluation of

m a r ke table securities. 

Basis of consolidation

Full consolidation has been applied to all subsidiaries. The

term “subsidiary” applies to those companies in which the

Group owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 50% of

the voting rights or in which the Group exercises

management control and has a significant minority interest.

The equity and net profit attributable to minority

shareholders’ interests are shown separately in the

consolidated balance sheet and profit and loss account,

respectively. All inter-company transactions and balances are

eliminated. Companies acquired during the year are

consolidated from their date of acquisition. The principal

operating and holding companies of the Group are listed on

pages 40 to 42. 

Investments in associated companies are accounted for by

the equity method. These are companies for which the Group

owns between 20% and 50% of the voting rights and over

which the Group exercises significant influence, but not

control. Joint venture companies are consolidated on a

proportional basis.

Investments in other companies are valued at the lower of

historical cost and market value. Dividends received from

investments in other companies are included in “Financial

income/(expense), net”.

Currency translation

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated

into Swiss Francs at year-end exchange rates. Revenues and

expenses are translated at average rates of exchange during

the year. Resulting exchange differences on translation are

included in reserves.

Exchange differences arising from foreign currency

transactions are included in other operating income/(ex p e n s e )

or financial income/(expense), net, according to their natu r e .

E xchange differences arising on long-term loans of an inve s t m e n t

n a ture to subsidiaries are classified as part of reserves. 

Average rates of exchange have been used to translate the

cash flows of foreign subsidiaries in compiling the

consolidated statements of cash flows.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



Buildings 12 - 40 years

Equipment 3 - 10 years

SGS GROUP 7

Assets acquired under lease agreements which provide the

Group with substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership are capitalised at amounts equivalent to the

estimated present value of the underlying lease payments.

The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges,

are included in liabilities. These leased assets are depreciated

over the lease period or their estimated useful lives,

whichever is shorter.

Land, buildings and equipment

Buildings and equipment are stated at historical cost less

accumulated depreciation. Land is stated at historical cost

and is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated on a

straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets

as follows:

The most significant currencies for the Group were

translated at the following exchange rates:

Year-end rates Annual average rates

2001 2000 2001 2000

Australia AUD 100 85.81 90.32 87.28 98.07

Euro EUR 100 148.05 152.07 151.03 155.77

Great Britain GBP 100 243.42 242.55 242.97 255.69

Japan JPY 100 1.28 1.42 1.39 1.57

USA USD 100 168.10 162.25 168.78 168.83



Work-in-progress and inventories

Work-in-progress is recorded by reference to the stage of

completion of the service performed unless the outcome of

the transaction involving the rendering of the service cannot

be reliably estimated, in which case, work-in-progress is

measured at the lower of the cost incurred in providing the

service or its eventual invoice price. This category also

includes work completed which has not yet been invoiced.

Inventories are shown at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) or

weighted average methods.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise principally goodwill, being the

excess of the cost of an acquired company over the fair value

of its attributable net assets, which is amortised on a

straight-line basis over its expected useful life of between

five and twenty years. Before 1995, goodwill was deducted

directly from reserves at the date of acquisition. Goodwill

charged to equity before 1995 forms part of the net gain/loss

on disposal of those businesses which have subsequently

been sold. 

Other intangible assets purchased from third parties are

capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over their

estimated useful lives. 

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash

equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with

banks and investments in money market instruments. In the

balance sheet, bank overdrafts are included within loans in

current liabilities.

Marketable securities

Marketable securities are recognised in the balance sheet at

fair value. Movements in fair value for the marke table securities

designated as held for trading are reported in the profit and

loss account as financial income/(expense), net. For marke ta b l e

securities designated as available for sale, the movements in

fair value are reported as a component of shareholder's

equity and are recognised as financial income/(expense), net,

in the profit and loss account on disposal.

Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised in the balance

sheet at fair value based on the market values at year end.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments

are reported as a component of financial income/(expense),

net, or operating profit/(loss) depending on the nature of the

underlying hedged transaction.

Employee benefits

The Group maintains many defined benefit and defined

contribution pension plans in accordance with local

conditions and practices in the countries concerned.

Payments to defined contribution plans are recognised as an

expense in the profit and loss account as incurred. 

The Group's obligation in respect of the defined benefit

pension plans and the annual cost recognised in the profit

and loss account is determined by independent actuaries

using the projected unit credit method. Significant actuarial

gains and losses greater than 10% of the higher of the

present value of the obligation or the fair value of plan assets

are recognised in the profit and loss statement over the

average remaining service lives of the employees in the plan.

The amount recognised in the balance sheet represents the

excess or deficit of the fair value of the plan assets over the

present value of the obligation, adjusted for any

unrecognised actuarial gains and losses. 

The Group operates a number of post employment defined

benefit schemes including life insurance and healthcare

plans. The method of accounting and the frequency of

valuations are similar to those used for the defined benefit

pension plans.

The Group provides additional benefits to certain members of

senior management through equity compensation plans (see

Note 29). No expense is recognised in the profit and loss

account for shares and options granted to members of senior

management under these plans.

Revenue recognition

Revenues represent fees for services rendered to third

parties after deduction of discounts and sales taxes. Only the

gross margin on both transit/handling operations and contract

hire of technical personnel is included in revenues.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Taxes

Ta xes include current and defe rred income ta xes arising from

c u rrent year profits and adjustments to prior year tax provisions. 

Current taxes represent amounts paid or payable to tax

authorities in each jurisdiction. Deferred taxes are calculated

using the full liability method under which the tax consequences

are recognised for all differences arising between the tax

bases of assets and liabilities and those prepared for

consolidation purposes, using local prevailing rates.

Taxes on possible distributions of un-remitted profits by

subsidiaries have not been provided for since these profits

are considered to be reinvested by the companies concerned.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present

obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be

required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of

the amount of the obligation can be made.

Adoption of new standards

On 1 January 2001, the Group adopted IAS 39, "Financial

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement" (see note 11).

Comparative figures have not been restated. 

Accounting policy change

Outstanding Receivables on Discontinued GTS 

Pre-Shipment Inspection Contracts

Trade receivables owed by governments and international

institutions associated with Global Trade Solutions (GTS)

activities have been recognised on the Group’s balance sheet

based on management best estimates of future receipts,

taking into account all relevant facts known at that time. 

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39, Financial

I n s t ruments: Recognition and Measurement, became

e ffe c t i ve 1 Ja n u a ry 2001 and requires that the receivables 

be discounted to reflect the expected quantum and timing 

of receipts.

The application of IAS 39 yields a wide range of outcomes,

depending on the degree of conservatism or optimism

applied to these estimates.  For the Group, these receivables

represent material financial assets. 

More importantly, the Group is concerned that the range of

results possible under the application of IAS 39 could

undermine its efforts to recover the full amounts it is owed

under these contracts in as much as any resulting value may

be interpreted as providing guidance to the relevant debtors

about a level of settlement acceptable to the Group. 

The Group has decided to change its accounting policy in

respect of outstanding receivables on terminated GTS

contracts in order to deal with these commercial concerns

and in order to provide clarity and transparency for the users

of the Group’s financial statements. It will record these

receivables at zero value in the balance sheet as at 31

December 2001 and will record recoveries of these amounts

as exceptional items when received. Notwithstanding this

accounting policy change, the Group will continue to pursue

all available remedies to monetise these receivables at the

earliest possible time.

Without the impact of IAS 39 the Group is of the view that it

held adequate provision against the amounts outstanding on

these contracts.

As a result of this change in accounting policy, receivables

amounting to CHF 177.5 million have been charged to the

profit and loss account in 2001 as an exceptional item, in

accordance with IAS 8, Changes in Accounting Policy. This

charge relates to trade receivables owing as at 31 December

2 001 on terminated GTS contracts. Fu ture recoveries of these

receivables will be reported separately as exceptional items.

SGS GROUP 9
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Included in the fixed assets are construction in progress

projects amounting to CHF 4.9 million (2000: CHF 46.6 million).

At 31 December 2001 the net capitalised cost of land,

buildings and equipment acquired under lease agreements

amounts to CHF 17.4 million (2000: CHF 13.2 million).

The values of buildings and equipment for fire insurance

purposes are as follows:

3 Acquisitions during 2001

Acquisitions in 2001 resulted in an increase in revenues of

CHF 10.0 million and a CHF 0.8 million increase in operating

profit (see note 12).

4 Land, buildings and equipment

10 SGS GROUP

CHF (thousands) Land Buildings Total Equipment Total

Cost

At 1 January 2001 23 813 235 263 259 076 808 683 1 067 759

Additions 890 23 825 24 715 91 547 116 262

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 4 738 566 5 304 30 742 36 046

Sale of subsidiaries - (93) (93) (23 488) (23 581)

Disposals (359) (3 613) (3 972) (65 909) (69 881)

Exchange differences (5 374) 1 408 (3 966) (22 051) (26 017)

At 31 December 2001 23 708 257 356 281 064 819 524 1 100 588

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2001 - 83 251 83 251 598 023 681 274

Depreciation for the year - 12 807 12 807 87 800 100 607

Acquisitions of subsidiaries - 150 150 18 171 18 321

Sale of subsidiaries - (20) (20) (20 921) (20 941)

Disposals - (1 129) (1 129) (58 360) (59 489)

Exchange differences - (3 790) (3 790) (13 054) (16 844)

At 31 December 2001 - 91 269 91 269 611 659 702 928

Net book value 2001 23 708 166 087 189 795 207 865 397 660

Net book value 2000 23 813 152 012 175 825 210 660 386 485

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Buildings 277 954 229 894

Equipment 752 127 723 880



In 2001 the loss accounted for using the equity method was

CHF 0.6 million (2000: CHF 1.0 million losses).

6 Long-term loans and other assets

At 31 December 2001, long-term loans granted to associated

companies amounted to CHF 1.0 million (2000 : nil). A long

term loan of CHF 4.3 million has been granted to the

"Fondation pour l'intéressement du personnel au

développement du Groupe SGS".

5 Investments in associated and other companies

SGS GROUP 11

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Investments in associated companies (613) -

Investments in other companies 3 173 6 439

Total 2 560 6 439

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Long-term loans to third parties 10 025 5 574

Other long-term assets 27 734 31 326

Total 37 759 36 900



Included in trade accounts and notes receivable are balances

owing from various governments and international institu t i o n s

amounting to CHF 454.9 million at 31 December 2001 (2000 :

CHF 429.5 million). At 31 December 2001 an amount of CHF

2 0 7.2 million has been provided for payment risks (2000: CHF

205.2 million). As at 31 December 2001, CHF 17 7.5 million of

accounts receivable balances on terminated GTS contracts

h ave been recorded in the balance sheet at zero and the

adjustment charged as an exceptional item in the profit and

loss account (see Note 2 – Accounting Policy Change).

9 Trade accounts and notes receivable

8 Work-in-progress and inventories

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Work-in-progress 94 283 103 802

Inventories 17 622 10 175

Total 111 905 113 977

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Trade accounts and notes receivable 974 694 912 876

Provision for doubtful debts (283 894) (271 350)

Effect of change in accounting policy (177 515) –

Total 513 285 641 526
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7 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill Other intangible Total
CHF (thousands) assets

Cost

At 1 January 2001 45 391 5 251 50 642

Additions 39 517 465 39 982

Disposals (2 110) (789) (2 899)

Exchange differences (6 161) (758) (6 919)

At 31 December 2001 76 637 4 169 80 806

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2001 14 742 2 720 17 462

Amortisation for the year 8 464 698 9 162

Disposals (1 644) (809) (2 453)

Exchange differences (2 937) (332) (3 269)

At 31 December 2001 18 625 2 277 20 902

Net book value 2001 58 012 1 892 59 904

Net book value 2000 30 649 2 531 33 180



As a result of adopting IAS 39, "Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement", CHF 3.3 million of

unrecognised gains on marketable securities were

recognised as at 1 January 20 01 with a corresponding

adjustment to opening shareholders' equity.

12 Acquisition of subsidiaries

On 18 December 2001, the Group acquired 100% of the

issued share capital and voting rights of Scientific Services

Limited (SSL), for a total purchase price of CHF 43.1 million.

During the year the Group also acquired other companies

and increased its percentage holding in certain subsidiaries.

The fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

were as follows:

11 Marketable securities

10 Other receivables and prepayments

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Prepayments 57 440 83 253

Other receivables 113 379 129 293

Total 170 819 212 546

CHF (thousands) 2001

Held for trading 130 788

Available for sale 28 259

Total 159 047

CHF (thousands) SSL Other 2001 2000

Goodwill 36 067 3 451 39 518 8 010

Fixed assets 16 007 1 718 17 725 3 569

Current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents 26 395 1 623 28 018 1 121

Cash and cash equivalents 9 711 (34) 9 677 1 970

Interest bearing loans (28 903) - (28 903) -

Current liabilities (14 354) (1 421) (15 775) (3 893)

Long-term liabilities (910) (936) (1 846) (388)

Minority interests (894) (26) (920) 911

Total purchase price 43 119 4 375 47 494 11 300

Less : Cash/(overdrafts) acquired (9 711) 34 (9 677) (1 970)

Outstanding transaction fees (2 533) - (2 533) -

Cash outflow on acquisition 30 875 4 409 35 284 9 330
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13 Financial instruments

The Group utilises derivative financial instruments such as

foreign exchange forward contracts and currency options to

manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations

and interest rate risks.

Foreign exchange risk management

The SGS Group enters into for ward exchange contracts to

hedge foreign currency risks related to assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies. Gains and losses on

these instruments are compensated by the respective losses

or gains on the hedged items.

14 Share capital

Concentration of credit risk

Derivative instruments also give rise to credit risks due to

possible non-performance by counterparties. However, the

Group, through its ongoing control procedures, monitors the

creditworthiness of its counterparties and considers the risk

to be acceptable. Counterparties are restricted to a limited

number of international banks.

Outstanding derivative financial instruments at 31 December

are as follows:

Bons de To t a l
Registered shares Bearer shares j o u i s s a n c e share capital

Number of shares Nominal value Number of shares Nominal value Number CHF 000

Balance at 1 January 2000 2 595 991 CHF 20 1 045 235 CHF 100 89 156 443

Conversion of registered shares into bearer shares (200) CHF 20 40 CHF 100 – –

C o nversion of bons de jouissance into bearer shares2 – – – – (9) –

Balance at 31 December 2000 2 595 791 CHF 20 1 045 275 CHF 100 80 156 443

C o nversion of bearer shares into registered shares1 5 226 375 CHF 20 (1 045 275) CHF 100 – –

Balance at 31 December 2001 7 822 166 CHF 20 – CHF 100 80 156 443

1 At the Annual General Meeting on 10 May 2001, the shareholders approved the resolution to create a unitary share structure. All the bearer

shares were converted into registered shares on the basis of one bearer share being equal to five registered shares.

2 During 2001, no bons de jouissance were exchanged for registered shares at CHF 20 nominal value (2000: 9 bons de jouissance were exchanged

for 6 bearer shares). 1 750 (2000 : 1750) registered shares of  CHF 20 nominal value remain at the disposal of the Board of Directors at 31

December 2001. No bons de jouissance were repurchased and subsequently cancelled in 2001 (2000: None).
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Notional value Carrying value Fair value

CHF (million) 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

Foreign exchange forward contracts 95.8 124.5 (1.0) 8.9 (1.0) 8.9



In the normal course of business, claims have been made

against certain companies within the Group. Provisions have

been established based on management’s assessment of

the likely outcome of these claims and have been included in

other provisions above.

15 Long-term loans

16 Provisions

During 1999, SGS Société Générale de Sur veillance Holding

SA signed an agreement for a CHF 500 million three year

multi-currency revolving credit facility. The facility  was

syndicated into a group of commercial banks. The syndicated

loan facility is subject to certain covenants. All covenants

related to this credit facility have been met. On 10 December

2001, SGS Société Générale de Surveillance Holding SA, in

accordance with the terms of the agreement, reduced the

facility to CHF 150 million.

Amounts borrowed at 31 December 2001 on this facility

were CHF 70.8  million (2000: CHF 43.7 million), and are

reported as current loans (see note 18).

Other loans carry interest at normal market rates. The fair

value of these loans does not differ significantly from their

book value. There were no loans payable to associated

companies in either year. The long-term loans and the capital

lease obligations mature as follows:

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Long-term loans 29 527 34 959

Lease obligations 12 683 8 872

Total 42 210 43 831

CHF (thousands) Long-term loans Lease obliga t i o n s

2003–2004 1 914 3 467

2005–2006 1 383 6 322

After 2006 26 230 2 894

Total 29 527 12 683
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31 December ( Re l e a s e d ) / Net disposals/ E x ch a n g e 31 December

CHF (thousands) 2 000 Charged to P&L U t i l i s e d a c q u i s i t i o n s d i ff e r e n c e s 2 001

Provision for employee benefit obligations 109 376 14 763 (18 922) - (233) 104 984

Restructuring and termination provisions 48 785 (96) (17 580) 441 (210) 31 340

Other provisions 106 791 (9 859) (5 230) (63) 256 91 895

Total 264 952 4 808 (41 732) 378 (187) 228 219



17 Employee benefits

The information set out below summarises details of the

defined benefit pension and other post employment plans in

the Group. Contributions to the pension plans are normally

paid into independent funds. Where this is not the case a

provision is included in the Group balance sheet. The other

post retirement benefits are principally life insurance and

healthcare plans in the USA.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet at 31

December are as follows:

The amounts recognised in the income statement 

are as follows:
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Pension plans Other plans

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000 2001 2000

Current service cost 18 833 18 344 76 79

Interest cost 37 189 36 665 3 175 2 431

Expected return on plan assets (48 847) (47 362) (452) (504)

Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised (231) (1 263) 820 (24)

Past service cost 139 476 – –

Transfer to the unrecognised asset 4 061 3 172 – –

Total included in salaries and wages 11 144 10 032 3 619 1 982

Pension plans Other plans

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000 2001 2000

Present value of funded obligations 692 733 663 279 44 530 46 024

Fair value of plan assets (612 656) (668 395) (5 734) (5 056)

Net funded status 80 077 (5 116) 38 796 40 968

Present value of unfunded obligation 50 502 46 661 – –

Actuarial (losses)/gains not yet recognised (79 270) 18 037 (15 254) (16 973)

Unrecognised asset 30 133 25 799 – –

Liability included in the balance sheet 81 442 85 381 23 542 23 995



Actuarial assumptions vary according to local prevailing

economic and social conditions. The principal weighted

average actuarial assumptions used in determining the cost

of benefits for both 2001 and 2000 are as follows:

The amount recognised as an expense in respect of defined

contribution plans during 2001 was CHF 12.8 million (2000:

CHF 11.3 million).

18 Loans

At 31 December 2001 CHF 70.8 million (2000: CHF 43.7 million)

of the syndicated loan fa c i l i ty was utilised  (see note 15 ) .

19 Other creditors and accruals

Movements in the net liability during the period 

are as follows:

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Bank loans 137 182 66 209

Overdrafts 19 959 40 661

Short term portion of long term loans 779 38

Lease obligations, short-term 3 492 2 632

Total 161 412 109 540

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Accrued expenses 183 914 202 247

Advance billings 14 099 13 826

Advances from clients 11 177 15 659

Total 209 190 231 732
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Pension plans Other plans

2001 2001

Net liability at 1 Januar y 85 381 23 995

Exchange differences (1 141) 908

Contributions paid by the Company (12 556) (4 980)

Expense recognised in the income statement 11 144 3 619

Benefits paid (1 386) –

Net liability at 31 December 81 442 23 542

Pension plans Other plans

2001 2000 2001 2000

Discount rate 5.7% 5.8% 7.3% 7.5%

Return on assets 7.3% 7.0% 9.5% 8.8%

Salary progression rate 3.2% 3.4% 3.5% 4.0%

Healthcare cost increase - - 10.0% 7.5%
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2 0 I n fo rmation by business segment and ge o g raphical are a

Some businesses have been reclassified in 2001.

Comparative 2000 business segment information has been

restated to reflect these changes in business classification

and to be consistent with the current business structure.

CHF (millions) 2001 % 2000 %

Revenues by business segment:

SGS Agricultural Services 217.2 9.3 217.4 9.2

SGS Minerals Services 206.1 8.8 212.4 9.0

SGS Redwood Services 414.8 17.8 397.5 16.8

SGS Consumer Products Services 282.8 12.1 261.7 11.0

SGS Industrial Services 402.7 17.3 401.2 16.9

SGS International Certification Services 198.3 8.5 189.2 8.0

SGS Global Trade Solutions 270.6 11.6 353.4 14.9

Other Services 339.5 14.6 336.1 14.2

Total 2 332.0 100.0 2 368.9 100.0

Revenues by geographical area:

Europe 1 168.7 50.1 1 157.2 48.8

Africa/Middle East 124.9 5.4 132.0 5.6

North America 481.1 20.6 482.9 20.4

Latin America 178.0 7.6 184.7 7.8

Asia/Pacific 379.3 16.3 412.1 17.4

Total 2 332.0 100.0 2 368.9 100.0

The revenues by geographical area reflect the geographical location of the SGS customers.

Operating profit before exceptional operating 

income/(expense) by business segment:

SGS Agricultural Services 17.9 8.5 20.4 8.9

SGS Minerals Services 19.4 9.3 24.2 10.5

SGS Redwood Services 42.7 20.3 40.0 17.4

SGS Consumer Products Services 21.4 10.2 19.6 8.5

SGS Industrial Services 24.2 11.5 18.4 8.0

SGS International Certification Services 25.3 12.0 25.0 10.9

SGS Global Trade Solutions 34.5 16.4 59.0 25.7

Other Services 24.9 11.8 23.2 10.1

Total before Group corporate costs 210.3 100.0 229.8 100.0

Less: Group corporate costs (63.6) – (56.8) –

SGSonSITE (9.6) – (19.4) –

Total 137.1 – 153.6 –
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2001 2000

Reconciliation of operating assets to balance sheet assets:

Operating assets as above 1 504.2 1 666.9

Cash and short-term investments held for investing purposes 486.5 454.7

Total assets per balance sheet 1 990.7 2 121.6

CHF (millions) 2001 % 2000 %

Operating profit before exceptional operating 

income/(expense) by geographical area:

Europe 114.6 54.5 108.7 47.3

Africa/Middle East 14.3 6.8 13.8 6.0

North America 19.7 9.4 23.9 10.4

Latin America 9.9 4.7 22.2 9.7

Asia/Pacific 51.8 24.6 61.2 26.6

Total before Group corporate costs 210.3 100.0 229.8 100.0

Less: Group corporate costs (63.6) – (56.8) –

SGSonSITE (9.6) – (19.4) –

Total 137.1 – 153.6 –

Operating assets by business segment:

SGS Agricultural Services 127.9 8.5 152.0 9.1

SGS Minerals Services 181.0 12.0 96.3 5.8

SGS Redwood Services 212.3 14.1 208.4 12.5

SGS Consumer Products Services 150.7 10.0 147.9 8.9

SGS Industrial Services 231.8 15.4 247.0 14.8

SGS International Certification Services 68.6 4.6 72.7 4.4

SGS Global Trade Solutions 212.1 14.1 386.5 23.2

Other Services 319.8 21.3 356.1 21.3

Total 1 504.2 100.0 1 666.9 100.0

O p e rating assets by ge o g raphical are a :

Europe 604.8 40.2 801.5 48.1

Africa/Middle East 154.0 10.2 146.3 8.8

North America 121.3 8.1 158.9 9.5

Latin America 151.5 10.1 130.6 7.8

Asia/Pacific 472.6 31.4 429.6 25.8

Total 1 504.2 100.0 1 666.9 100.0
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2001 2000

Average number of employees by business segment:

SGS Agricultural Services 4 642 4 565

SGS Minerals Services 4 327 4 422

SGS Redwood Services 4 654 4 278

SGS Consumer Products Services 3 736 3 464

SGS Industrial Services 5 004 5 146

SGS International Certification Services 1 543 1 501

SGS Global Trade Solutions 2 868 3 317

Other Services 3 851 3 839

Total 30 625 30 532

Average number of employees by geographical area:

Europe 11 208 11 152

Africa/Middle East 4 679 4 643

North America 3 631 3 643

Latin America 3 414 3 457

Asia/Pacific 7 693 7 637

Total 30 625 30 532

Number of employees at year-end 32 020 30 555

CHF (millions)

Total liabilities by geographical area:

Europe 675.5 730.1

Africa/Middle East 33.8 32.7

North America 86.3 88.6

Latin America 35.7 45.2

Asia/Pacific 151.9 105.2

Total 983.2 1 001.8

Capital additions by geographical area:

Europe 60.8 71.1

Africa/Middle East 8.6 6.4

North America 14.9 15.6

Latin America 10.9 7.6

Asia/Pacific 21.1 20.8

Total 116.3 121.5



21 Other operating expenses

Included in other operating expenses are operating lease

expenses totalling CHF 19.5 million (2000: CHF 17.6 million).

22 Exceptional operating income/(expense)

As at 31 December 20 01, CHF 177.5 million of accounts

receivable balances on terminated GTS contracts have been

recorded in the balance sheet at zero and the adjustment

charged as an exceptional item in the profit and loss account

(see Note 2 – Accounting Policy Change). 

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Rental expenses, insurance, utilities and sundry supplies 137 989 144 990

Communication costs 72 138 73 327

Other administrative costs 312 125 320 448

Travel costs 175 108 176 217

Total 697 360 714 982

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Effect of change in accounting policy – GTS trade receivables (177 515) –

Cash received on fully provided GTS trade receivables – 16 800

Other – (1 541)

Total (177 515) 15 259
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CHF (millions) 2001 2000

Depreciation expense by geographical area:

Europe 50.8 50.7

Africa/Middle East 6.2 7.3

North America 15.9 17.0

Latin America 9.2 8.4

Asia/Pacific 19.2 20.1

Total 101.3 103.5

23 Financial income/(expense), net

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Income from cash, deposits and marketable securities 28 132 35 017

Dividend income 1 148 2 278

Interest expense (9 526) (12 729)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) (2 625) (6 564)

Total 17 129 18 002



31 December Charged/ Net Exchange 31 December

CHF (thousands) 2000 (credited) to P&L acquisitions differences 2001

Accelerated tax depreciation (797) 145 (206) (53) (911)

Timing differences on provisions (32 692) 7 349 (321) 37 (25 627)

Tax loss carryforwards (14 846) (6 572) – 395 (21 023)

Other tax liabilities 45 593 (7 248) 154 (38) 38 461

Other items, net 2 759 866 – (129) 3 496

Net (asset)/liability 17 (5 460) (373) 212 (5 604)

The SGS Group has operations in various countries which

have differing tax laws and rates. Consequently, the effective

tax rate on consolidated income varies from year to year,

according to the source of earnings. A reconciliation

between the reported income tax expense and the amount

that would arise using the weighted average statutory tax

rate of the Group is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities have not been recorded for the

withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the

un-remitted earnings of certain subsidiaries, as such

amounts are considered to be permanently reinvested; such

un-remitted earnings totalled CHF 416.0 million at 31

December 2001 (2000: CHF 476.8 million). Unrecognised tax

loss carryforwards amount to CHF 266.2 million (2000: CHF

114.3 million).

Reconciliation to deferred tax assets and deferred and other

tax liabilities in the balance sheet:

24 Taxes

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Current tax expense 42 717 45 499

Deferred tax expense 831 5 859

Total tax expense 43 548 51 358

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

(Loss)/profit before tax (23 274) 186 821

Weighted average statutory tax rate of 30.0% (2000: 23.9%) (6 982) 44 710

Effect of exceptional operating expense (30.0% on CHF 177.5 million) 53 250 –

Effect of permanent non-deductible items 6 471 6 201

Effect of permanent non-taxable items (5 307) (5 009)

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (3 286) (4 193)

Effect of current year’s losses not utilised 3 330 3 162

Others, net (3 928) 6 487

Tax charge 43 548 51 358

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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25 Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit by the

weighted average number of shares in issue during the ye a r.

The diluted (there is no diluting factor) earnings per share

figure is as follows:

26 Contingent liabilities

Claims arising in the normal course of business have been

made against certain companies within the Group. Based on

legal opinion, management considers that the outcome of

these actions is unlikely to have a materially adverse effect

on the Group’s financial position.

27 Guarantees and assets pledged

At 31 December 2001 there were guarantees of  CHF 111.0

million (2000: CHF 80.6 million) and pledged assets of CHF

11.2 million (2000: CHF 4.4 million) arising in the ordinary

course of business.

28 Operating leases

Operating lease rentals are payable as fo l l ow s :

2001 2000

Less than one year 23 232 24 644

Between one and five years 36 472 30 194

More than five years 14 107 17 131

Total 73 811 71 969

2001 2000

Net (loss)/profit (CHF (thousands)) (75 163) 128 714

Weighted average number of shares 7 822 166 7 822 166

(Loss)/earnings per share (in CHF) (9.61) 16.46

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows: 2001 2000

Deferred tax assets (47 562) (48 941)

Deferred and other tax liabilities 41 958 48 958

Net (asset)/liability (5 604) 17
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29 Equity compensation plans

The Group operates an employee share purchase plan and a

share option plan for eligible members of senior

management. Certain of  the share options and grants were

issued based on  the bearer shares of  SGS Société

Générale de Surveillance Holding S.A. Following the

introduction of the unitary registered share on 10 May 2001

these benefits will now be provided as registered shares

with appropriate adjustment to the plan terms to reflect the

introduction of the unitary registered share. The number of

shares and share prices in this note are therefore reflected

as registered shares in SGS Société Générale de

Surveillance Holding S.A. and have been converted at the

rate of one bearer share to five registered shares. 

(a) Employee share purchase plan

The Group has one employee share purchase plan (the “ P l a n” ) .

In 1995, 1997 and 1999 a grant has been made by the Plan

to eligible members of senior management for the right to

purchase shares in SGS Société Générale de Surveillance

Holding SA at a 50% discount to the market value. In 2001,

the Plan has granted to 165 senior managers the right to

purchase shares in SGS Société Générale de Surveillance

Holding S.A. at a 30% discount to the market value. 

The market value of the shares is determined as the average

price of the shares in the 20 days fo l l owing the announcement

of the annual results. The beneficiaries are required to purch a s e

the shares at the time they exercise their right, but the

shares remain blocked by the Plan during the vesting period.

Should a beneficiary leave the Group prior to the end of the

vesting period, they will receive a portion of any associated

capital gain. During the vesting period, the beneficiaries are

entitled to the voting rights and dividends attached to these

shares. Full legal title to the shares is transferred to the

beneficiaries after the vesting period has expired.

The terms and conditions of the active grants under 

the Plan are:

Year of grant Pu r chase price CHF Date of grant Exercise date Vesting period to

1995 178 12 May 1995 6 June 1995 31 May 2001

1997 296 13 June 1997 30 June 1997 31 May 2003

1999 127 21 June 1999 31 July 1999 31 July 2004

2001 271 27 June 2001 31 July 2001 31 July 2004



O p t i o n s O p t i o n s O p t i o n s

E x e r c i s e o u t s t a n d i n g o u t s t a n d i n g o u t s t a n d i n g

Exercise period p r i c e at 1 Ja n u a r y at 31 December at 31 December

f r o m t o C H F 2 000 G r a n t e d E x e r c i s e d 2 000 G r a n t e d Exercised C a n c e l l e d 2 001

1 Nov 19 9 9 31 Oct 200 9 20 20 000 – (20 000) – – – – –

1 Aug 2000 1 July 2010 20 5 000 – (5 000) – – – – –

31 Dec 2000 1 July 2012 20 5 000 – (1 250) 3 750 – (1 250) – 2 500

31 July 200 3 31 July 200 5 280 12 000 2 000 – 14 000 – – (1 025) 12 975

31 May 2004 31 May 200 9 387 – – – – 12 594 – – 12 594

S h a r e s

Shares held S h a r e s S h a r e s S h a r e s Shares p u r ch a s e d S h a r e s S h a r e s

Shares initially at 1 Ja n u a r y granted to p u r ch a s e d r e p u r ch a s e d held at 31 Shares granted b y r e p u r ch a s e d held at 31 

Year of grant e x e r c i s e d 2 000 e m p l o y e e s by employees by the Plan December 2000 to employees e m p l o y e e s by the Plan December 2001

1995 33 440 24 490 (775) – (1 550) 22 165 (4 490) – (15 185) 2 490

1997 34 580 26 515 (850) – (2 720) 22 945 – – (700) 22 245

1999 26 120 26 120 (300) – (1 740) 24 080 – – (1 275) 22 805

2001 3 594 – – – – – – 3 594 – 3 594

Total 97 734 77 125 (1 925) – (6 010) 69 190 (4 490) 3 594 (17 160) 51 134

Market value of 
shares CHF (million) 31.6 32.5 13.6

The shares held by the Plan on behalf of the employees in

respect of active grants are summarised below:

For the 3 594 shares purchased by the beneficiaries under

the 2001 grant, the “Fondation pour l’intéressement du

personnel au développement du Groupe SGS” received CHF

1.0 million. The fair value of these shares at the exercise date

of 31 July 2001 was CHF 1.0 million. The number of shares

held by the Plan on behalf of the related parties (see note

30) at 31 December 2001 was 3 225 (2000: 4 425).

(b) Share option plans

The Group has issued share options to selected members of

management, who are all considered to be related parties

under note 30. The terms of the share option plans for these

related parties are as follows:
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The market value of these unblocked shares at 31 December

2001 was CHF 33.3 million (2000: CHF 59.0 million).

30 Related parties

Related parties able to exercise significant influence are

considered to include the Board of Directors, members of

the Group Executive Board, close family members and any

companies related to these individuals. The individuals who

comprise the Board of Directors and the Group Executive

Board are summarised on pages 10 and 13 of the Review

section of the 2001 Annual Report.

The transactions between the Group and the related parties

may be summarised as follows:

Related parties participate in the employee share purchase

plan as disclosed in note 29 (a), and in the share option plan

as disclosed in note 29 (b).

Number of bearer shares Number of registered shares

At 1 January 2000 18 321 32 325

Partial repurchases 1 202 485

Options granted (400) –

Share exchange (25) 125

Sale of shares (1 000) –

At 31 December 2000 18 098 32 935

Partial repurchase 340 15 460

Conversion of bearer shares into registered shares (18 438) 92 190

Issued under 2001 grant – (3 594)

Options granted – (12 594)

Options cancelled – 1 025

Sale of Shares – (800)

At 31 December 2001 – 124 622

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The share purchase and option plans are administered by a

legally independent Swiss foundation (“Fondation pour

l’intéressement du personnel au développement du Groupe

SGS”). This entity is not consolidated in the Group financial

statements. Movements in the SGS shares held by the

employee participation foundation, excluding the blocked

shares held on behalf of the beneficiaries of the plans under

the Plan, are as follows:

CHF (millions) 2001 2000

Fees of the Board of Directors 1.5 1.3

Salary and other benefits of the Group Executive Board 16.6 10.3

Pension payments 0.5 0.5
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31 Significant shareholders

At 31 December 2001, Rentenanstalt - Swiss Life held

16.25% of the share capital of the company (unchanged

from 31 December 2000 save as for the effects on the

voting rights of the introduction of a single class of shares).

Worms & Cie held 13.7% and Mr August von Finck and his

family held 14.7% of the capital and voting rights of the

Company. The Company and the SWX Swiss Exchange are

advised that none of the members of the von Finck family

own more than 5% of the capital and voting rights and that

they are not bound by any agreement with respect to voting

rights or transfer of shares.



To the General Meeting 

of SGS Société Générale de Surveillance Holding SA

As Group auditors, we have audited the consolidated financial

statements presented on pages  2 to 27 of the SGS Group for

the year ended 31 December 2001.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of

the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our

audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements

concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards

promulgated by the Swiss profession and with the International

Standards on Auditing issued by the International Federation of

Accountants (IFAC), which require that an audit be planned and

performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

consolidated financial statements are free from material

misstatement. We have examined on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated

financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting

principles used, significant estimates made and the overall

consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that

our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true

and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations

and the cash flows in accordance with the International

Accounting Standards (IAS) and comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements

submitted to you be approved.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE SA

Gerhard Ammann Peter Quigley

Auditors in charge

Geneva, 20 March 2002

REPORT OF THE GROUP AUDITORS TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF 
SGS SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE DE SURVEILLANCE HOLDING SA
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BALANCE SHEETS AT 31 DECEMBER

(BEFORE APPROPRIATION OF AVAILABLE RETAINED EARNINGS)

30 SGS SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE DE SURVEILLANCE HOLDING SA

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Assets

Non-current assets

Tangible assets 10 450 2 000

Financial assets

Investments in subsidiaries 481 416 473 035

Loans to subsidiaries 111 522 84 083

Other financial assets 5 211 1 029

Total non-current assets 608 599 560 147

Current assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries 237 480 233 998

Withholding taxes recoverable 1 891 8 809

Other current assets 4 549 6 674

Marketable securities 5 101 15 635

Cash and deposits 161 666 134 817

Total current assets 410 687 399 933

Total assets 1 019 286 960 080

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 156 443 156 443

General legal reserve 33 498 33 498

Retained earnings 664 432 655 760

Total shareholders’ equity 854 373 845 701

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities:

Provisions 54 634 52 372

Current liabilities:

Amounts due to subsidiaries 104 799 57 012

Other short-term creditors 2 600 2 503

Accruals 2 880 2 492

Total current liabilities 110 279 62 007

Total liabilities 164 913 114 379

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 1 019 286 960 080



PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER
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CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Dividends from subsidiaries 73 294 75 377

Profit on sale of subsidiaries 2 833 57

Interest income 9 137 12 249

Other financial income 1 993 2 357

Other income 2 127 838

Total income 89 384 90 878

Salaries and wages (10 654) (16 706)

Administrative expenses (18 877) (12 782)

Depreciation of fixed assets (189) –

Exchange losses (953) (6 123)

Financial expenses (2 057) (3 484)

Changes in risk provisions and goodwill amortisation 1 007 (4 891)

Total expenditure (31 723) (43 986)

Profit before taxes 57 661 46 892

Taxes (3 618) (2 191)

Net profit 54 043 44 701



2 Shares

At the Annual General Meeting on 10 May 2001, the

shareholders accepted the resolution to create a unitary

share structure. All the bearer shares were converted into

registered shares on the basis of one bearer share being

equal to five registered shares.

Own shares held by the Company represent 1 750 unused

registered shares issued in 1992 following the offer to

exchange the bons de jouissance category A for registered

shares (2000:1750). No bons de jouissance category A were

exchanged against registered shares in 2001 (2000: 9 bons

de jouissance were exchanged for 6 bearer shares). The

unused shares remain at the disposal of the Board of

Directors. In 2001 and 2000, the Company did not trade in its

own shares.

3 Guarantees and comfort letters

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Reserves and retained earnings

General Retained
CHF (thousands) legal reserve earnings Total

Balance at 1 January 2000 33 498 648 608 682 106

Dividend paid – (37 549) (37 549)

Net profit for the year – 44 701 44 701

Balance at 31 December 2000 33 498 655 760 689 258

Retained earnings appropriation:

Dividend paid – (45 371) (45 371)

Net profit for year – 54 043 54 043

Balance at 31 December 2001 33 498 664 432 697 930

SGS Société Générale de Surveillance Holding SA has

unconditionally guaranteed or provided comfort to financial

institutions providing credit (loans and guarantee bonds) to

its subsidiaries. In addition, it has issued performance bonds

to commercial customers on behalf of its subsidiaries.

SGS Société Générale de Surveillance Holding SA is the

holding company of the SGS Group which owns and finances

either directly or indirectly its subsidiaries and joint-ventures

throughout the world. The financial statements are prepared

in accordance with the accounting principles of Swiss law.

During the year, there were no changes in accounting policies.

2001 2001 2000 2000
CHF (thousands) Issued Utilised Issued Utilised

Guarantees 352 059 214 961 623 325 114 803

Comfort letters 66 781 29 563 68 763 34 188

Performance bonds 8 460 8 460 8 689 8 689

Total 427 300 252 984 700 777 157 680
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5 Shareholdings

The list of principal shareholdings appears on pages 40 to 42

of the Annual Report.

6 Significant shareholders

At 31 December 2001, Rentenanstalt - Swiss Life held

16.25% of the share capital of the company (unchanged

from 31 December 2000 save as for the effects on the

voting rights of the introduction of a single class of shares).

Worms & Cie held 13.7% and Mr August von Finck and his

family held 14.7% of the capital and voting rights of the

Company. The Company and the SWX Swiss Exchange are

advised that none of the members of the von Finck family

own more than 5% of the capital and voting rights and that

they are not bound by any agreement with respect to voting

rights or transfer of shares.

4 Fire insurance value of fixed assets

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000

Properties 13 790 7 569
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PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE APPROPRIATION 
OF AVAILABLE RETAINED EARNINGS

CHF 2001 2000

Net profit for the year 54 043 026 44 700 564

Balance brought forward from previous year 610 388 759 611 059 078

Total retained earnings available for appropriation 664 431 785 655 759 642

Proposal of the Board of Directors:

Dividend (46 935 396) (45 370 883)

Balance carried forward 617 496 389 610 388 759

Ordinary gross dividend per:

Registered share 6.00 5.80

Bon de jouissance 30.00 29.00
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REPORT OF THE STAT U T O RY AUDITORS TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF 
SGS SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE DE SURVEILLANCE HOLDING SA
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To the General Meeting 

of SGS Société Générale de Surveillance Holding SA

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting

records and the financial statements presented on pages 30

to 33 of SGS Société Générale de Surveillance Holding SA

for the year ended 31 December 2001.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We

confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning

professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing

standards promulgated by the Swiss profession, which

require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free from material misstatement. We have

examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements. We have also

assessed the accounting principles used, significant

estimates made and the overall financial statement

presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records, the financial

statements and the proposed appropriation of available

earnings presented on page 34 comply with Swiss law and

the Company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to

you be approved.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE SA

Gerhard Ammann Peter Quigley

Auditors in charge

Geneva, 20 March 2002
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CHF (thousands) 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Land and  buildings 189 795 175 825 169 577 220 270 213 417

Equipment 207 865 210 660 234 175 295 552 305 332

Investments in associated and 
other companies 2 560 6 439 7 213 8 507 10 514

Long-term loans and other assets 37 759 36 900 35 795 38 100 43 927

Deferred tax assets 47 562 48 941 52 376 32 433 40 458

Goodwill and other intangible assets 59 904 33 180 33 214 110 198 109 853

Total non-current assets 545 445 511 945 532 350 705 060 723 501

Work-in-progress and inventories 111 905 113 977 117 672 182 606 177 304

Trade accounts and notes receivable 513 285 641 526 607 486 654 936 688 373

Other receivables and prepayments 170 819 212 546 233 146 195 686 329 834

Cash and short-term investments 649 218 641 577 762 545 555 178 712 813

Total current assets 1 445 227 1 609 626 1 720 849 1 588 406 1 908 324

Total 1 990 672 2 121 571 2 253 199 2 293 466 2 631 825

Share capital 156 443 156 443 156 443 156 443 157 943

Reserves 825 213 942 869 840 954 309 928 771 634

Total shareholders’ equity 981 656 1 099 312 997 397 466 371 929 577

Minority interests 25 835 20 469 21 731 49 278 51 552

Long-term loans 42 210 43 831 48 212 176 774 169 243

Deferred and other tax liabilities 41 958 48 958 45 308 6 739 48 449

Provisions 228 219 264 952 351 954 478 747 312 045

Total long-term liabilities 312 387 357 741 445 474 662 260 529 737

Loans 161 412 109 540 98 193 293 232 206 754

Trade and other payables 272 207 283 305 369 688 424 802 523 101

Current tax liabilities 27 985 19 472 21 074 39 850 42 698

Other creditors and accruals 209 190 231 732 299 642 357 673 348 406

Total current liabilities 670 794 644 049 788 597 1 115 557 1 120 959

Total liabilities 983 181 1 001 790 1 234 071 1 777 817 1 650 696

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 1 990 672 2 121 571 2 253 199 2 293 466 2 631 825

Fixed asset additions

Land, buildings and equipment 116 262 121 451 187 355 181 061 188 129



SGS GROUP – STATISTICAL DATA OVER FIVE YEARS
C O N S O L I D ATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

CHF (thousands) 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Revenues 2 331 993 2 368 862 3 085 057 3 154 149 3 270 578

Salaries and wages (1 254 641) (1 245 828) (1 673 413) (1 724 708) (1 715 979)

Subcontractors’ expenses (133 111) (146 676) (170 361) (179 814) (194 901)

Depreciation (101 305) (103 502) (144 304) (145 849) (143 237)

Goodwill amortisation1 (8 464) (4 314) (10 685) (9 549) (5 808)

Other operating expenses (697 360) (714 982) (903 691) (938 510) (931 523)

Operating profit before exceptional
operating income/(expense) 137 112 153 560 182 603 155 719 279 130

Exceptional operating income/(expense) (177 515) 15 259 – (411 975) (1 537)

Operating profit/(loss) (40 403) 168 819 182 603 (256 256) 277 593

Financial income/(expense), net 17 129 18 002 4 619 2 268 42 611

Profit /(loss) before taxes (23 274) 186 821 187 222 (253 988) 320 204

Taxes (43 548) (51 358) (57 167) (23 929) (79 332)

Profit /(loss)  after taxes (66 822) 135 463 130 055 (277 917) 240 872

Minority interests (8 341) (6 749) (16 452) (11 831) (11 746)

Net profit /(loss) before disposals (75 163) 128 714 113 603 (289 748) 229 126

Gain on disposals, net – – 202 867 – –

Net profit /(loss) (75 163) 128 714 316 470 (289 748) 229 126

Ratios

Operating profit(loss)/Revenues (1.7%) 7.1% 5.9% (8.1%) 8.5%

Net profit (loss)/Revenues (3.2%) 5.4% 10.3% (9.2%) 7.0%

Tax rate – 27.5% 30.5% – 24.8%

Employees

Average number of employees 30 625 30 532 37 506 39 144 39 584

1 From 1998, goodwill amortisation has been reported as an operating expense. Prior year figures have been restated.
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SGS GROUP – STATISTICAL DATA OVER FIVE YEARS

(CHF unless indicated otherwise) 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Share information

Registered shares

Number of shares outstanding fully diluted 7 822 166 2 595 791 2 595 991 2 595 991 2 640 371

Number of shares with dividend rights 7 822 166 2 595 791 2 595 991 2 595 991 2 640 371

Price:

High 519 785 728 636 655

Low 178 431 283 231 465

Year-end 267 500 491 324 535

Par value 20 20 20 20 20

Bearer shares3

Number of shares outstanding fully diluted – 1 045 275 1 045 235 1 045 235 1 051 359

Number of shares with dividend rights – 1 045 275 1 045 235 1 045 235 1 051 359

Price:

High – 3 680 3 090 2 919 3 565

Low – 1 959 1 065 865 2 480

Year-end – 2 350 2 030 1 435 2 800

Par value – 100 100 100 100

Bons de jouissance1

Number of bons de jouissance 80 80 89 93 103

Key figures by shares

Shareholders’ equity per

Registered share 125.50 140.54 127.51 59.62 117.71

Bearer share – 702.70 637.55 298.10 588.55

Earnings/(loss) per

Registered share (9.61) 16.46 40.46 (36.85) 26.92

Bearer share – 82.30 202.30 (184.25) 134.60

Dividend per

Registered share 6.002 5.80 4.80 – 13.60

Bearer share – 29.00 24.00 – 68.00

Dividend CHF (thousands)

Ordinary 46 9352 45 371 37 549 – 106 388

As % of net (loss)/profit before disposals – 35.2% 33.1% – 46.4%

1 Bons de jouissance have been de-listed from the stock exchange as of 15 November 1993.

2 As proposed by the Board of Directors.

3 At the Annual General Meeting on 10 May 2001, the shareholders accepted the resolution to create a unitary share structure. All the   bearer

shares were converted into registered shares on the basis of one bearer share being equal to five registered shares.
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Share transfer

SGS Société Générale de Surveillance Holding SA has no

restrictions as to share ownership, except that registered

shares  acquired in a fiduciary capacity by third parties may

not be registered in the shareholders’ register, unless a

special authorisation has been granted by the Board of

Directors.

Market capitalisation

At the end of 2001, market capitalisation was approximately

CHF 2 089 million (2000: CHF 3 754 million). Shares are

quoted on the SWX Swiss Exchange.

Price evolution 2000–2002.



SGS GROUP PRINCIPAL OPERATING AND HOLDING COMPA N I E S

Europe

Austria
SGS Austria, Controll-Co. Ges.m.b.H. •
Azerbaijan
SGS Azeri Ltd. •
Belarus
SGS Minsk Ltd. •
Belgium
SGS Van Bree N.V. •
SGS Agrilab S.A.
SGS Cortex N.V. •
SGS Depauw & Stokoe N.V. •
SGS EcoCare N.V. •
Generalex, Segers-Dupont & Co. N.V. •
Centre Technique d’Expertises S.P.R.L. •
SGS Bureau Nivelles A.S.B.L. •
Sanitec N.V. •
SGS Biopharma S.A. •
SGS Lab Simon S.A. •
SGS Coordination Center N.V. •
SGS Qualitest N.V. •
SGS European Quality Certification Institute G.E.I.E. •
Geologica N.V. •
Sgs European Waste Care & Services N.V. •
Bulgaria
SGS Bulgaria Ltd. •
Croatia
SGS Adriatica, w.l.l. •
Czech Republic
SGS Czech Republic s.r.o. •
SGS Stredoceska geologicka spolecnost, s.r.o. •
Denmark
SGS Danmark A/S •
Estonia
SGS Estonia Ltd. •
Finland
SGS Inspection Services Oy •
SGS Fimko Oy •
France
Laboratoires Simon France S.A. •
SGS Holding France S.A. •
Petroservices S.A. •
SGS Agri France S.A. •
Cervac S.A. •
Laboratoires Wolff Environnement S.A. •
Alphatest S.A.
SGS International Certification Services S.A. •
SGS Monitoring SAS •
SGS Qualitest Industrie SAS •
SGS Consumer Services SAS •
SGS Management Services SAS •
Evrimmo SAS •
SGS Inspection Technique SAS •
SGS Qualitest ACN SAS •
Georgia
SGS Georgia Ltd. •
Germany
SGS Société Générale de Sur veillance Holding 
(Deutschland) GmbH •

F. H. Gottfeld GmbH •
Intermodal Transportation Services GmbH •
Natec Institut für naturwissenschaftlich-technische 
Dienste GmbH •
SGS Controll-Co. GmbH •
SGS Technology Project Services GmbH •
SGS-ICS Gesellschaft für Zertifizierungen m.b.H. •
NRK Kinnen & Billen GmbH •
SGS-TÜV Saarland GmbH
Great Britain
SGS United Kingdom Ltd. •
Carlcrest Ltd. •
SGS International Certification Services Ltd. •
Technology Project Services (International) Ltd. •
Supervise Investments Ltd. •
SGS Holding UK Ltd. •
Redback Drilling Tools Ltd •
Greece
SGS Hellas S.A. •
Société Hellénique de Surveillance S.A. •
Hungary
SGS Hungária Kft. •
Ireland
SGS Ireland Ltd. •
Italy
SGS ICS S.r.l. •
SGS Redwood Italia S.r.l. •
SGS Ecologia S.r.l. •
SGS Société Générale de Surveillance Italia Holding SpA •
SGS Servizi Tecnici Industriali S.r.l. •
SGS Italia S.r.l. •
Kazakhstan
SGS Kazakhstan Ltd. •
Latvia
SGS Latvija Ltd. •
Lithuania
SGS Klaipeda Ltd. •
Luxembourg
SGS Finance (Luxembourg) S.A. •
Moldavia
SGS (Moldova) S.A. •
Netherlands
SGS Redwood (Nederland) B.V. •
SGS Technische Inspecties B.V. •
TPS Unimecs Nederland B.V. •
SGS European Holding B.V. •
Internationales Controle Maatschappij (I.C.M.) B.V. •
SGS Nederland B.V. •
Laboratorium Van der Sprong B.V. •
Norway
SGS Norge A/S •
Poland
SGS Polska Sp.z o.o. •

Portugal
SGS Portugal SA •
SGS International Certification Services Lda. •
Romania
SGS Romania S.A. •
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Russia
SGS Energodiagnostika
SGS Vostok Ltd. (Moscow) •
Slovakia
SGS Slovakia spol.s.r.o. •
Slovenia
SGS Slovenija d.o.o. •
Spain
SGS Española de Control S.A. •
Barcelona International Terminal S.A.
SGS Tecnos S.A. •
Inspección Técnica Link S.A.
SGS International Certification Services Ibérica, A.E.I.E. •
Biotecnal, S.A.
Cibest, S.L.
Lodge Services Specialists S.A.
Sweden
SGS Sweden AB •
Switzerland
SGS Société Générale de Sur veillance Holding SA •
SGS Société Générale de Sur veillance SA •
SGS Switzerland SA •
Soccom Société de Finance Commerciale SA •
SGS Far East Ltd. •
SGS International Certification Services SA •
SGS Group Management SA •
Turkey
SGS Supervise Gözetme Etüd Kontrol Servisleri AS •
Turkmenistan
SGS Turkmen Ltd. •
Ukraine
SGS Ukraine Ltd. •
Uzbekistan
SGS Tashkent Ltd. •
Technolnvest Closed Joint-Stock Co. Ltd.
Uzconsult service Closed Joint Stock Co. Ltd.

Africa/Middle East

Angola
SGS Angola Limitada •
Benin
SGS Bénin S.A. •
Cameroon
SGS Cameroun S.A. •
Congo
SGS Congo S.A. •
Egypt
SGS Egypt Ltd.
SGS International Certification Services Egypt Co. Ltd.
Egyptian Consulting Company w.l.l.
Gabon
Société de Surveillance Gabon S.A. •
Ghana
SGS Ghana Ltd. •
SGS Laboratory Services Ghana Ltd. •
Analabs West Africa Limited •
Guinea Conakry
SGS Guinée Conakry S.A. •
SGS Mineral Services (Guinée) Sàrl. •

Iran
SGS (Iran) Ltd. •
Ivory Coast
SGS Côte d’Ivoire S.A.
Société Ivoirienne de Contrôles Techniques 
Automobiles et Industriels S.A. •
Kenya
SGS Kenya Ltd. •
Kuwait
SGS Kuwait W.L.L.
Lebanon
SGS (Liban) S.A. •
Malawi
SGS Malawi Ltd. •
Mali
Analabs Mali SARL •
Morocco
SGS Maroc S.A. •
Mozambique
SGS Mozambique, Lda •
Nigeria
SGS Nigeria Inspection Services Ltd.
Saudi Arabia
SGS Inspection Services Saudi Arabia Ltd.
Senegal
SGS Sénégal S.A. •
South Africa
SGS South Africa (Proprietary) Ltd. •
SGS South Africa International Certification 
Services (Pty) Ltd. •
Libra Assay Laboratories Pty Ltd •
Tanzania
SGS Tanzania Superintendence Co. Ltd. •
African Assay Laboratories (Tanzania) Ltd •
Togo
SGS Togo S.A. •
Tunisia
SGS Tunisie S.A.
Uganda
SGS Uganda Ltd. •
United Arab Emirates
SGS Gulf Ltd. (UAE Branch) •
Zambia
SGS Zambia Ltd. •
Zimbabwe
SGS Zimbabwe (Private) Ltd. •
SGS Zimlab (Private) Ltd.

North America

Canada
SGS Canada Inc. •
Liquiterminals Ltd. •
SGS International Certification Services Canada Inc. •
United States
SGS Control Services, Inc. •
SGS North America Inc. •
Commercial Testing & Engineering Co. •
SGS U.S. Testing Company Inc. •
SGS Global Trade Solutions Inc. •
SGS International Certification Services, Inc. •
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Testcom Inc.
CT&E Environmental Services Inc. •
SGS Intermodal Transportation Services Inc. •
Andergauge Ltd •

Latin America

Argentina
SGS Argentina S.A. •
Sacta S.A. •
Iteveco S.A. •
Iteveba S.A. •
SGS International Certification Services Argentina S.A. •
Bolivia
SGS Bolivia S.A. •
Brazil
SGS do Brasil Ltda. •
SGS ICS Certificadora Ltda. •
Chile
SGS Chile Limitada •
Colombia
SGS Colombia S.A. •
Ecuador
SGS del Ecuador S.A. •
Guatemala
SGS de Guatemala, S.A. •
Mexico
SGS Servicios Logisticos Aduaneros, S.A. de C.V. •
Société Générale de Surveillance de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. •
Jamaica
SGS Supervise Jamaica Ltd. •
Panama
SGS Panama Control Services Inc. •
Paraguay
SGS Paraguay S.A. •
Peru
SGS del Perú S.A.C. •
Medlab Cantella Colichon S.A.C.
Laboratorio Inmobiliaria S.A.C. •
Uruguay
SGS Uruguay Ltda. •
Sociedad Uruguaya de Control Técnico 
de Automotores S.A. •
Venezuela
SGS Venezuela S.A. •

Asia/Pacific

Australia
SGS Australia Holdings Pty. Ltd. •
SGS Australia Pty. Ltd. •
SGS International Certification Services Pty. Ltd. •
Scientific Services Limited •
Analabs Pty Ltd •
Cohen Drake Wishart Pty Ltd •
Gearhart Australia Limited •
Expertest Pty Ltd •
Gearhart United Pty Ltd •
Mineral Laboratories of Australia Pty Ltd •
Bangladesh
SGS Bangladesh Ltd. •

China
SGS CSTC Standards Technical Services Ltd.
Hong Kong
SGS Hong Kong Ltd. •
TW Gearhart Ltd
India
SGS India Ltd. •
Indonesia
P.T. SGS International Certification Services Indonesia •
PT Indo Assayutama Nusa Laboratories
Japan
SGS ICS Japan Inc. •
SGS Far East Ltd. (Japan Branch) •
Malaysia
SGS (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. •
Mongolia
Analabs Co Ltd •
Myanmar
SGS (Myanmar) Ltd. •
New Zealand
SGS New Zealand Ltd. •
Pakistan
SGS Pakistan (Private) Ltd.
Philippines
SGS (Subic Bay), Inc. •
SGS Far East Ltd. (Philippines Branch) •
SGS Global Trade Solutions Philippines Inc. •
Singapore
SGS Singapore (Pte) Ltd. •
SGS Testing & Control Services Singapore Pte. Ltd. •
SGS International Certification Services Singapore Pte Ltd. •
CDW (Singapore) Pte Ltd •
South Korea
SGS Korea Co., Ltd. •
Sri Lanka
SGS Lanka (Private) Ltd. •
Taiwan
SGS Taiwan Ltd. •
SGS Far East Ltd. (Taiwan Branch) •
Thailand
SGS (Thailand) Ltd. •
SGS Environmental Services Ltd. •
SGS Holding (Thailand) Ltd.
SGS Far East Ltd. (Thailand Branch) •
Vietnam
SGS Vietnam Ltd. •

• above 90%
above 50% and up to 90%
50% and below
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